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Statement of Compliance
Minister responsible for the Department of Culture and the Arts 

Dear Minister

In accordance with Section 61 of the Financial Management Act 2006 I hereby submit, for your information and presentation to Parliament, the Annual 
Report of the Department of Culture and the Arts for the financial year ended 30 June 2014. This report has been prepared in accordance with the 
provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 and all other relevant legislation including:

 ▪ Disability Services Act 1993

 ▪ Electoral Act 1907

 ▪ Equal Opportunity Act 1984

 ▪ Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984

 ▪ Public Sector Management Act 1994

 ▪ State Records Act 2000.

At the date of signing, I am not aware of any circumstances that would render the particulars included in the report misleading or inaccurate.

Director General 
11 September 2014
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Highlights of 2013-2014
 ▪ The DCA provided more than $27 million in funding to support 

the delivery of arts and culture activities across WA. This included 
more than $18.4 million in core recurrent funding to 44 non-
government organisations, and more than $5.4 million in grants 
assessed by peer and expert panels to organisations, individuals 
and projects.

 ▪ The Performing Arts Regional Touring Boost Grants Program 
will increase the number and diversity of professional small to 
medium performing arts shows touring regional communities 
in WA for the next three years. The program was launched this 
year, providing $900,000 in grants, funded through the State 
Government’s Royalties for Regions program.

 ▪ The DCA signed a new Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) 
with the Department of Finance’s Building Management and 
Works to continue the State’s Percent for Art Scheme. In 2014, 
the Scheme celebrated 25 years of operation, improving the 
quality of the built environment and creating opportunities for 
Western Australian artists through the commissioning of public 
artworks. Since its inception, $46 million has been allocated to 
deliver 538 public art projects. The MOU extends the scheme 
until 2019.

 ▪ The DCA continued its work on the public value measurement 
framework and the development of a web based system to 
collect, analyse and report on data from artists, artistic peers and 
the public. This research project has attracted interest nationally 
and internationally.

 ▪ The DCA contracted Fullsky to carry out a consultancy regarding 
the future of the small to medium independent theatre sector, its 
audiences and venues. The consultancy provided options for the 
reallocation of existing theatre funding following the closure of 
Deckchair and ThinIce theatre companies.

 ▪ The DCA commissioned the ARC Centre of Excellence for 
Creative Industries and Innovation at the Queensland University of 
Technology, and SC Lennon & Associates to produce The Creative 
Industries Statistical Analysis for Western Australia – 2013. The 
report updated mapping undertaken in 2007 with the 2011 
census employment data to provide valuable information for the 
State’s creative industries, their peak associations and potential 
investors.
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 ▪ The DCA launched the KidsCulture Pilot Project in the City 
of Albany. The KidsCulture project encourages children and 
young people aged 5-18 years from eligible low income 
families to participate in arts and cultural activities in their local 
community. 

 ▪ A new MOU has been signed between DCA, the Department 
of Education and the Australia Council for the Arts. Students 
in 12 Western Australian public schools will work alongside 
professional artists on a range of arts projects as part of the 
national ‘Creative Education Partnerships: Artist-in-Residence’ 
initiative. The new MOU follows a successful four-year pilot 
of the program. The initiative is managed in WA by ArtsEdge, 
which is a strategic arts in education program developed in 
partnership between DCA and the Department of Education.

 ▪ The State Records Office (SRO) of Western Australia announced 
the release of its General Disposal Authority for State 
Government Information in December 2013. The disposal 
authority assists agencies in determining records that are 
common across government, how long they should be kept, 
and if they can ultimately be destroyed or should be retained 
permanently as State archives.

 ▪ The DCA finalised a Disaster Recovery Plan and implemented 
a new disaster recovery site. This work significantly reduced 
the data recovery time from 12 weeks to a same-day recovery 
of core systems. The project has enabled the DCA to upgrade 
its production systems and house them in a world class data 
centre, significantly improving core systems performance and 
reliability.
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Profile
The Department of Culture and the Arts (DCA) guides the delivery of 
culture and arts for Western Australia through the provision of policy 
development, coordination, arts-based private and public partnerships, 
and support services to the Culture and Arts Portfolio. The DCA also 
supports the State’s culture and the arts sector through grants across 
a broad range of art forms.

DCA is part of the Culture and the Arts Portfolio which includes:

 ▪ the Art Gallery of Western Australia (a statutory authority)
 ▪ Perth Theatre Trust (a statutory authority)
 ▪ ScreenWest (an incorporated association)
 ▪ the State Library of Western Australia (a statutory authority)
 ▪ the Western Australian Museum (a statutory authority)

 ▪ the State Records Office (a division of DCA which operates 
under its own Strategic Plan). 

The Public Sector Commission undertook a structural examination of 
the Culture and Arts Portfolio last year following the Cabinet decision in 
April 2013 to delegate the DCA Director General’s employing powers to 
the portfolio agency chief executive officers. The Cabinet decision also 
included budget appropriations for salaries to be provided from 1 July 
2013 direct to the four statutory authorities’ bank accounts.

Vision
The Western Australian community is enriched by unique and 
transforming culture and arts experiences.

Values
Imagination: valuing the creative application of knowledge and the 
courage inherent in seeking innovative solutions.

Respect: valuing and acknowledging the diversity and complexities of 
the communities we serve.

Professionalism: taking a skilled, collaborative and knowledge-based 
approach to all our work.

Integrity: acting ethically and responsibly in all our dealings and 
taking responsibility for our own behaviour.

Strategy
The report on the agency’s performance reflects the strategic focus 
outlined in the DCA’s Key Strategic Initiatives 2013-2014. This 
document, which was consistent with the 2010-2014 Strategic Plan, 
guided the work of the DCA over the reporting period.

The SRO operates under its own Strategic Plan, with a mission to 
foster high standards of government recordkeeping, to care for the 
State’s archives, and ensure they are accessible and widely used. 
A report on the SRO’s activities for the year, aligned to its strategic 
priorities, is included on page 44 in this report. 
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Operational structure
The Department of the Arts was established under the Public Service 
Act 1978 on July 1, 1986 subsequent to the repeal of the Western 
Australian Arts Council Act 1973. On 20 May 1997 the name was 
changed to the Ministry for Culture and the Arts under the Public 
Sector Management Act 1994. On 1 July 2001 the name was re-
designated to Department of Culture and the Arts under Section 35 of 
the Public Sector Management Act 1994 as a result of a Machinery of 
Government Review.

The DCA operates under the provisions of the Public Sector 
Management Act 1994. In the performance of its functions, the DCA 
complies with all relevant written laws.

The DCA links the Culture and the Arts Portfolio to the Government’s 
framework and also provides subsidy and some administrative support 
to The Bell Tower, which is managed by the Swan Bells Foundation 
Inc. The Portfolio organisations and the Swan Bells Foundation Inc are 
required to produce separate annual reports.
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The DCA is led by the Director General and supported by the functions 
of the following areas:

Office of the Director General

The Office of the Director General is responsible for ministerial 
liaison, government relations, strategic planning, project 
management, business improvement, risk, business continuity 
and information management. The Office also includes Corporate 
Affairs and Audit and Review.

Development and Strategy Directorate

The Development and Strategy Directorate works with a range of 
stakeholders to coordinate arts and cultural policy development, 
provide funding and support to arts organisations, implement 
State and national strategic arts and cultural programs, and 
conduct specialised research. It provides a link between the State 
Government, the arts and cultural sector, and the community.

General Operations Directorate

The General Operations Directorate provides strategic human 
resource management, financial, information technology and 
infrastructure planning and support services for DCA and Portfolio 
organisations. This is achieved through economies of scale and 
skill, and is underpinned by standardising business processes and 
consolidating technology and professional expertise.

State Records Office

The State Records Office (SRO) is established by the State 
Records Act 2000. It supports the State Records Commission 
as well as providing consultancy, advice and training to State 
and local government organisations on compliance. The SRO 
also provides public access to the State Archives Collection’s 
unrestricted archives.

Responsible Minister
The Hon John Day MLA, Minister for Culture and the Arts.

Legislation administered
 ▪ Art Gallery Act 1959

 ▪ Library Board of Western Australia Act 1951

 ▪ Museum Act 1969

 ▪ Perth Theatre Trust Act 1979

 ▪ The State Records Act 2000
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Alan Ferris 
Acting Director General

Alan Ferris was the Acting Director General, 
Department of Culture and the Arts (DCA) 
during the reporting period. His substantive 

position was General Manager, Perth Theatre 
Trust, a position he held since 2008. Prior to this he was Chief 
Financial Officer DCA, a role which also had responsibility for the 
Art Gallery of WA, Perth Theatre Trust, ScreenWest, State Library of 
WA and the WA Museum. Alan has been a Trustee of the Swan Bells 
Foundation and also held the position of the Mayor of the Town, East 
Fremantle for six years. He is a board member of the Palmerston 
Association and a member of the Leadership WA Finance Committee. 
As Acting Director General he was a board member of the Art Gallery 
of WA, Perth Theatre Trust, ScreenWest, State Library of WA and WA 
Museum. Alan is a Certified Practising Accountant with a Bachelor of 
Commerce.

David Ansell 
Acting Deputy Director General, 
Development and Strategy 

David Ansell has been Acting Deputy Director 
General since November 2012. David’s 

background has been in education as a teacher 
and principal in Western Australian public schools. His recent 
positions have included General Manager of the Smith Family in 
Western Australia, Director of Participation and Executive Director 
for the Office for Early Childhood Development and Learning within 
the Department of Education. David undertook a secondment to the 
Department of the Premier and Cabinet in 2011-12. He is currently a 
Board Member of Child Australia and a member of the Management 
Committee for the Fogarty EDvance program.

Leadership/Senior Executive
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Eric Isailovic 
Executive Director, General Operations 

Eric Isailovic was appointed Executive Director 
in April 2008, having worked for more than 
25 years in senior corporate and operational 

management roles in government at both the State 
and Federal levels. His past sector experience has included the public 
transport and law enforcement domains. Eric also worked for five years 
as a successful small business operator in the food manufacture and 
retail sector.

Cathrin Cassarchis 
State Archivist and Executive Director State 
Records, State Records Office of WA

Cathrin Cassarchis was appointed in March 
2008. Her background in the archive sector 

includes roles as Head of Public Affairs for The 
National Archives in the United Kingdom and as funding consultant 
to the National Council on Archives (UK). As State Archivist, Cathrin 
is also the State Records Commission’s Executive Officer, providing 
advice and support to the Commission and, along with the Director 
State Information Management, forms the Executive Secretariat to the 
Commission. Before her current appointment, Cathrin was Director of 
the WA Museum Foundation. Cathrin is a member of the Geographic 
Names Committee.
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Portfolio demographics
Demographics by Organisation

Department/Portfolio Organisation Women Men

Department of Culture and the Arts incl. SRO 100 60

Art Gallery of Western Australia 54 20

Perth Theatre Trust 5 2

ScreenWest 21 4

State Library of Western Australia 141 55

Western Australian Museum 155 95

Total 476 236

DCA and SRO Headcount as at 30 June 2014.

Employment type Department of Culture and Arts State Records Office

Women Men Women Men

Permanent Full-time 54 38 8 9

Permanent Part-time 18 0 2 0

Fixed Term Full-time 13 7 0 2

Fixed Term Part-time 4 3 1 0

Casual paid 0 0 0 0

Other paid 0 1 0 0

Total 89 49 11 11



13 

Organisational chart
June 2014
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Performance Management 
Framework
The Portfolio achieves its Government Desired Outcomes through the delivery of seven key services. While the Portfolio contributes to all of the 
Government’s Outcomes Based Service Delivery goals, its primary contribution is to the Government goal: 

Greater focus on achieving results in key service 
delivery areas for the benefit of all Western Australians

The figure below illustrates the relationship between the Portfolio’s Desired Outcomes and the most relevant Government goal.

Government goal Desired outcomes Services Service provider

Greater focus on achieving 
results in key service areas 
for the benefit of all Western 
Australians

Outcome 1

A creative, sustainable and 
accessible culture and arts 
sector

 ∙ Arts industry support  ∙ Department of Culture and the Arts

 ∙ Screen production industry 
support

 ∙ ScreenWest

 ∙ Venue management services  ∙ Perth Theatre Trust

Outcome 2

Western Australia’s natural, 
cultural and documentary 
collections are preserved, 
accessible and sustainable

 ∙ Art Gallery services  ∙ Art Gallery of Western Australia

 ∙ Library and information services  ∙ State Library of Western Australia

 ∙Museum services  ∙Western Australian Museum

 ∙ Government recordkeeping and 
archival services

 ∙ State Records Office
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Section 2 

Report on operations
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Department of Culture and the Arts
The DCA’s Key Strategic Initiatives 2013-2014 document provides 
four strategic objectives. This document has guided DCA’s operational 
performance and achievements for the past year and includes:

 ▪ Leadership

 ▪ Culture and arts industry development

 ▪ Cultural infrastructure

 ▪ Portfolio services and policy.

The strategic plan and Key Strategic Initiatives 2013-2014 support the 
outcomes that DCA delivers for the State Government, namely:

 ▪ A creative, sustainable and accessible culture and arts sector; 
and

 ▪ WA’s natural, cultural and documentary collections are 
managed, conserved and accessible.

There have been no changes to the key performance indicators.
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Outcome statement: The Department of Culture and the Arts is the lead organisation in providing a strong foundation for the culture and arts 
industry for the benefit of the people of Western Australia.

Key actions

	Implement the actions from the 
structural examination
The Public Sector Commission undertook a structural 
examination of the Culture and Arts Portfolio last year. This 
examination followed the Cabinet decision in April 2013 
to delegate the DCA Director General’s employing powers 
to the Portfolio organisations chief executive officers. The 
Cabinet decision also included budget appropriations for 
salaries to be provided from 1 July 2013 to the four statutory 
authorities’ bank accounts.

The structural examination’s recommendations are being 
implemented in order of priority.

	Partner with key stakeholders on 
strategic matters
A stakeholder engagement plan was developed and 
implemented during the year, resulting in stronger 
relationships and proactive dialogue with key stakeholders. 
The DCA’s key strategic partnerships during 2013-14 
include:

Government 

The DCA maintains a range of partnerships to deliver 
services that effectively and efficiently coordinate government 
resources. The DCA also provides comment on the policy and 
strategy initiatives of other government departments that may 
impact on the culture and arts sector. In 2013-2014, DCA 
had a formal Memoranda of Understanding with each of the 
following State and Commonwealth Government departments 
and agencies and local government authorities:

 ▪ Australia Council for the Arts (Commonwealth)

 ▪ Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade (Commonwealth)

 ▪ Attorney-General’s Department, Ministry for the Arts 
(Commonwealth)

 ▪ Department of Regional Development (WA)

 ▪ Disability Services Commission (WA)

 ▪ Department of Finance, Building Management and Works 
(WA)

 ▪ Department of Education (WA)

 ▪ Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority (WA)

 ▪ Department of Aboriginal Affairs (WA)

 ▪ Central Institute of Technology

 ▪ City of Albany

Strategic initiative 1: Leadership
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In addition to Memoranda of Understanding, DCA works with 
the following State Government agencies:

 ▪ Public Sector Commission

 ▪ Department of Commerce

 ▪ Department of Treasury

 ▪ Equal Opportunity Commission

 ▪ Department of State Development

 ▪ Mental Health Commission

 ▪ Department of Sport and Recreation

 ▪ Insurance Commission of Western Australia.

Highlights include: 

Department of Premier and Cabinet 

The DCA is working closely with the Department of Premier 
and Cabinet to coordinate an arts and culture program that 
will assist the State Government to deliver on its Anzac 
Centenary objectives. The DCA is taking a leadership role 
and is working with other key partners to deliver the Anzac 
Centenary Program including the Returned and Services 
League, the Army Museum of WA, Lotterywest and Portfolio 
organisations. 

Department of Education and Australia Council

DCA signed a new MOU with the Department of Education 
and the Australia Council for the Arts to continue the 
successful Artist-in-Residence program. Within this 
partnership DCA delivered an Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander arts and culture in education portal via the ArtsEdge 
website, and developed a new partnership with Murdoch 
University’s School of Education, the AiR Commission, deliver 
six artist residencies.

Commonwealth Government Ministry for the Arts

The DCA continued to work with the Commonwealth 
Government’s Ministry for the Arts to facilitate the 
development of Aboriginal art centres across WA through a 
professional development program delivered both in Perth 
and onsite at each art centre. 

The DCA also supported the WA Museum’s domestic 
repatriation of Indigenous cultural remains and secret sacred 
objects.

Department of Finance, Building Management and 
Works

The State Government’s Percent for Art Scheme encourages 
an allocation of up to one per cent of the estimated total 
construction cost of each State capital works project, valued 
at $2 million and over, to a commissioned artwork.

During the year, the DCA and the Department of Finance 
celebrated Percent for Art’s 25th anniversary at the State 
Theatre Centre. More than 140 guests, including artists, 
architects, clients and art coordinators attended an event 
in recognition of the more than $46 million that has been 
allocated to 538 diverse and quality public art projects 
throughout the State since the scheme’s inception in 1989.

During the 2013-2014 financial year, 15 new public art 
projects were commissioned to the value of $2.2 million. 

Four focus areas have been identified for particular attention 
between 2013-2019 following the signing of a new MOU 
between DCA and the Department of Finance’s Building 
Management and Works. These include improved involvement 
of Western Australian Indigenous artists.
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Department of Regional Development

An ongoing partnership with the Department of Regional 
Development (DRD) continued to deliver performances by 
the major performing arts companies throughout regional 
communities. Funding subsidies to the WA Ballet, WA 
Opera (WAO), WA Symphony Orchestra and Black Swan 
State Theatre Company (BSSTC) enabled people in Western 
Australia’s nine regional areas to view performances. 
BSSTC was awarded $96,130 for Midsummer (a play with 
songs) to tour eight regions of the State in the first half of 
2014. The WAO was funded $122,054 to deliver a choral 
residency in the Great Southern region culminating in a public 
performance at the Albany Entertainment Centre in June.

The start of a new three-year program with DRD, Performing 
Arts Regional Touring Boost Grants Program, aims to 
increase the number and diversity of tours visiting regional 
communities. The State Government’s Royalties for Regions 
funding of $900,000 will provide for the development of 
a skills training package for community presenters and 
a new grants program for small to medium professional 
performing arts groups producers. The Request for Tender for 
a consultant to develop a skills training package for regional 
communities wanting to host performing arts touring shows 
closed in June 2014.

Disability Services Commission

A second MOU with the Disability Services Commission has 
been signed to continue delivering strategic arts and disability 
initiatives for a further three years. The new MOU builds on 
four years of collaboration. 

Partnership initiatives this year included the HERE&NOW13 
exhibition at The University of Western Australia’s Lawrence 
Wilson Art Gallery which featured the work of 11 Western 
Australian artists with disabilities and supported an emerging 
curator to mentor the artists and curate the exhibition.
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	Develop a new DCA strategic plan
The Acting Director General led the development of Key 
Strategic Initiatives 2013-2014. This internal document, 
which was consistent with DCA’s Strategic Plan 2010-2014, 
was designed to focus the work of the DCA for the reporting 
period. A new Strategic Plan will be developed.

	Work with key stakeholders to 
develop a strategic directions plan 
for the culture and arts industry
The DCA undertook background research in preparation for 
the development of a strategic directions plan for the culture 
and arts industry.

	Develop the Public Value 
Measurement Framework
The DCA continues to work towards operationalising the 
public value measurement framework, which is designed to 
capture and aggregate the public value delivered through 
investment in the arts and cultural sector.

The DCA contracted Perth-based Pracsys Economics and 
John Knell, of the Intelligence Agency (UK) to develop and test 
implementation of the framework model. The DCA has been 
working with project consultants to identify a standardised 
core set of indicators that can be used internationally to help 
the assessment of artistic quality.

A pilot of the public value measurement system will begin 
with DCA’s key funded organisations in September 2014.
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	Revise DCA’s Creating Value policy 
The DCA policy framework, Creating Value: An Arts and Culture 
Sector Policy Framework 2010-2014, which is centred on a public 
value model, assists is creating arts and culture outcomes for 
creative people, communities, economies and environments.

The framework is now in its final year and will be reviewed in 
2014-2015. 

	Undertake research and compile 
statistical data for business and 
advocacy purposes
The DCA progressed the development of the national cultural 
research agenda as Chair of the Statistics Working Group (SWG) 
for the Meeting of Cultural Ministers. SWG worked in partnership 
with the Australian Bureau of Statistics and all jurisdictions, 
overseeing the release of Australia’s first national cultural and 
creative activities satellite account. 

The DCA delivered research and statistical activities and 
publications regarding the employment, engagement and value for 
arts and cultural and creative sector in Western Australia.

This included the DCA releasing the latest mapping of the Western 
Australian Creative Industries, Creative Industries Statistical 
Analysis for Western Australia – 2013, in a series of fact sheets, 
infographics and research reports on DCA’s online Research Hub.

Other statistical releases included updating cultural employment 
data for Western Australia from the 2011 census, capturing public 
engagement and value for arts and culture as part of the 2013 
Arts Monitor, and analysing cultural funding by the three tiers of 
government.
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Strategic initiative 2:  
Culture and arts industry 
development
Outcome statement: The Department of Culture and the Arts supports a vibrant and thriving arts industry with arts organisations and practitioners 

delivering products, services and experiences to the community.

Performance highlights – arts funding
The DCA provided more than $27 million in funding to support the delivery of arts and culture activities across WA. This included more than $18.4 
million in core recurrent funding to 44 non-government organisations and more than $5.4 million in grants to organisations, individuals and projects.

 ▪ The DCA supports CircuitWest (the Association of Regional 
Performing Arts Centres) through a partnership designed 
to increase the organisation’s capacity through funding of 
$76,000 for the next two years towards the engagement of an 
Executive Officer. 

 ▪ The CircuitWest Pilot Touring Project was finalised with 
Little y Theatre Company touring their production of Scent 
Tales to Port Hedland, Carnarvon, Geraldton, Moora, Merredin, 
Bunbury, Margaret River, Esperance and Mandurah. The project 
was also funded $6,000 to complete an impact survey of the 
CircuitWest Pilot Touring Project.

 ▪ The DCA provided assistance for two representatives of the 
Matt Dann Cultural Centre in Port Hedland to present at the 
annual CircuitWest Conference on audience development 
strategies, and a further $1,018 towards engaging Duncan 
Fry as keynote speaker for the 2014 Techwest Symposium in 
February 2014.

 ▪ The DCA provided $20,000 towards the British Council’s 
National Aboriginal Leadership program, ‘Accelerate’, which 
ensured that two Western Australian participants were involved 
in the mentorship and training program. The program includes 
travel to the UK, as a career development opportunity for WA’s 
emerging Indigenous leaders in the creative industries. 

 ▪ The DCA provided support through expertise and information 
sessions for the Melbourne-based Next Wave Festival’s JUMP 
mentoring program for young people in the arts.

 ▪ The DCA provided leadership and support to assist in 
establishing Contemporary Dance Company WA through the 
amalgamation of Steps Youth Dance Company and Buzz Dance 
Theatre.

 ▪ The DCA led negotiations with the Perth Theatre Trust, and 
the State Theatre Centre of WA to assist Propel Youth Arts to 
establish a youth arts hub, which has been located within the 
State Theatre Centre.
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 ▪ The DCA and Auspicious Arts partnered to run a series of 
information sessions with Auspicious Arts Incubator (Melbourne) on 
entrepreneurial, development and financial support opportunities for 
young and emerging artists, arts educators and marketers.

Grant summary 

During 2013-2014, funding of $5,474,996 was provided to 326 
organisations, individuals and projects including: 

 ▪ Partnership Initiatives- $1,540,183 to 42 recipients 

 ▪ Creative Development Fellowships - $120,000 to two recipients 

 ▪ Dance - $259,413 to 10 recipients

 ▪ Multi arts - $155,960 to four recipients

 ▪ Music - $100,333 to four recipients 

 ▪ Theatre - $258,767 to 11 recipients

 ▪ Visual arts - $431,318 to 20 recipients

 ▪ Visual Arts and Crafts Mid-Career Fellowships - $75,000 to 
three recipients

 ▪ Writing - $185,166 to 10 recipients

 ▪ Young People and the Arts, including Quick Response, Youth 
Fellowships and Scholarships - $385,496 to 42 recipients 

 ▪ Indigenous Arts Panel - $216,755 to 12 recipients

 ▪ Contemporary Music, including Quick Response - $208,053 to 
26 recipients

 ▪ Creative Industries, including Creative Industries Travel 
Assistance - $361,477 to 36 recipients

 ▪ Designer Fashion, including Fashion Flight - $122,116 to 13 
recipients 

 ▪ Artflight - $208,122 to 74 recipients 

 ▪ Community Collections funding - $100,870 to five recipients

 ▪ Other organisation funding - $416,425 to three recipients

Recurrent funded organisations and activities

The Lotteries Commission Act 1990 provides five per cent of net 
subscriptions to the Arts Lotteries Account, which in 2013-14 was 
$15,000,000. 

During 2013-2014, $18,469,172 was provided to 44 organisations 
for the operational and artistic costs of delivering an agreed level of 
service. This figure included an annual budget adjustment of four per 
cent on 2012 funding levels from 1 January 2014. Of this funding, 
$7,617,340 (41 per cent) was provided to the major performing arts 
companies:

Major performing arts company Funding

West Australian Opera $1,854,718

West Australian Symphony Orchestra $2,082,295

Black Swan State Theatre Company $1,385,479

West Australian Ballet $2,294,848

Total $7,617,340

DCA provided $180,000 for the development of a theatrical/operatic 
co-production between the WA Opera and Barking Gecko Theatre 
Company of The Rabbits by Shaun Tan and John Marsden. The 
collaboration included OzOpera, the touring arm of Opera Australia 
and the Perth International Arts Festival. 

The WA Symphony Orchestra also received $99,848 under the DCA 
Orchestra Review Funding, which is designed to improve artistic 
standards and maintain orchestra sizes. An additional $160,000 
was provided to offset rehearsal costs at the Perth Concert Hall and 
$40,000 was provided to the City of Perth to support Symphony in the 
City.
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In addtition, the DCA provided $225,000 to the Black Swan State 
Theatre Company (BSSTC), matching the Australia Council’s funding, 
to increase its season by two productions for the second year. The 
BSSTC presented, as part of the Fringe World Festival, amalgamated 
Motherf**cker with the Hat which attracted 3,117 paid attendances. 
In addition BSSTC presented Midsummer (a play with songs) which 
attracted 4,236 paid attendances.

The WA Ballet received support of $222,425 for the hire of the West 
Australian Philharmonic to perform Peter Pan as part of the 2013 
Christmas season which broke WA Ballet box office records with total 
attendance of 17,190.

Funding highlights by art form

Creative Industries

The DCA incorporated the Contemporary Music and Designer 
Fashion funding programs into a single Creative Industries 
funding program from 1 January 2014. In 2013-14, the Creative 
Industries funding program supported 76 projects to a total 
of $691,646. The specific funding to the creative industries 
categories are detailed below.

Contemporary music

This year 50 projects were supported to a total of $467,685. 
Highlights included:

 ▪ The Love Junkies to showcase at Bigsound, Brisbane and 
Music Matters, Singapore. At Bigsound, while promoting their 
new single, the band secured representation with an East 
coast booking agent.

 ▪ Gina Williams and Guy Ghouse were supported to perform at 
the National Folk Festival in Canberra, as part of the release of 
their debut album Kalyakoorl: Songs in Noongar Language.

 ▪ Assistance was provided to Satellite City Pty Ltd for the second 
stage development of the Sync My Track website. This led to 
an invitation for the company to attend Sync Australia, Los 
Angeles and A2IM’s Indie Week, New York, supported through 
the Creative Industries Travel Assistance.

 ▪ Core funding of $340,827 was provided to the West Australian 
Music (WAM) for peak body services to the sector. 

 ▪ WAM also received an additional $95,000 to support the 
WAM Business Conference and workshops, the WAM Festival 
Director position, and the Singapore West Australian Music 
international strategy. Further additional activity funding of 
$27,000 was provided to WAM to support bands attending 
Singapore Festival events in May 2014, including Music 
Matters.
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Designer fashion 

This year 26 projects were supported to a total of $223,961 
including: 

 ▪ Western Australian fashion brand, Flannel participated in its 
inaugural European trade event in Paris in January 2014. 
The brand secured several retailers in Europe and the UK.

 ▪ Three local designer brands, Ae’lkemi, Zhivago and 
Dyspnea were funded to participate in the Mercedes Benz 
Australian Fashion Week, a national event held in Sydney in 
April 2014.

 ▪ The South West Fashion Festival held annually in Bunbury 
was funded to assist with providing opportunities for 
local Western Australian fashion designers to a targeted 
audience of local and metropolitan fashion retailers and the 
public.

 ▪ Aurelio Costarella was funded to produce a high end book 
to accompany his 30 year retrospective at the WA Museum. 

 ▪ The DCA also provided $250,000 to the annual Perth 
Fashion Festival to support events to promote local fashion 
designers.

 ▪ The DCA contributed $15,000 towards the Emergence 
Creative Festival in Margaret River in February 2014. It is a 
three-day event exploring the future of creativity and how 
it is driven by insight and innovation. The event provides a 
platform for creative ideas.

Performing Arts

Core funding was provided to six performing arts companies: 

Performing arts company Funding

Ausdance WA $180,233

Performing Arts Centre Society (The Blue Room) $244,190

Perth Theatre Company $487,455

Stages $79,993

STRUT Dance $195,839

Tura New Music $251,332

Total $1,439,042

In addition, the DCA provided $618,513 in funding to 25 
performing artists (including music, theatre and dance) 
organisations and individuals through the Arts Development 
Grants Program. This included funding for Playwriting Australia 
and the Australian Script Centre. Highlights included:

 ▪ The DCA provided $36,525 to Perth Theatre Company, pvi 
collective, Humphrey Bower and Barking Gecko Theatre 
Company to attend the Australian Performing Arts Market 
(APAM) in February 2014. APAM is Australia’s premier 
contemporary performing arts event.

 ▪ The DCA extended its current partnership with the Australia 
Council for the Arts to support Performing Lines WA 
through the Managing and Producing Services (MAPS) 
initiative. Funding for this initiative is $120,000 from DCA 
and $50,000 from the Australia Council per annum.
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 ▪ Two Creative Development Fellowships of $60,000 were 
awarded in 2014. James Berlyn will create two new 
theatre works and develop an instructional framework for 
devised theatre with respected mentor Adrian Howells. 
Another part of his Fellowship will see the development 
of a collaborative, interactive performance piece for 
young people. Cat Hope will create a new body of 
work which includes music commissions for Australian 
and international artists, and the development of the 
score for a music/dance video with Sydney dancer and 
choreographer Martin del Amo.

 ▪ The DCA, in partnership with the Perth International Arts 
Festival, held an industry forum ‘In Conversation – An 
International Perspective’. This forum was an opportunity 
for the performing arts sector to connect and engage 
with international producers, presenters and festival 
programmers.

Visual Arts and Craft

Core funding was provided to four visual arts organisations to 
the value of $1,369,208.

Organisation Funding

Art On The Move $455,419 

Artsource $421,340 

FORM $287,473 

International Art Space $204,976 

Total $1,369,208

In addition the Arts Development Grants Program, 29 
additional organisations and individuals received funding 
totalling $561,318 for various activities including annual 
programs, development of new work and presentation 
opportunities. Highlights included:

 ▪ Visual Arts and Craft Mid-Career Fellowship grants of 
$25,000 to Andrew Nicholls, Joshua Lloyd Webb and 
Rebecca Baumann.

 ▪ $15,000 to the Australia Council for the Arts to support 
Gemma Weston as an emerging curator to attend and 
participate in the Venice Biennale, and Tim Carter who 
was supported as the WA venue attendant team leader. 

 ▪ $40,000 for international residencies to WA artists 
through Asialink which is an initiative of The University of 
Melbourne and The Myer Foundation.

 ▪ Katie Lenanton was supported to be part of Next Wave’s 
Festival Emerging Curator program.
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 ▪ $40,000 to the Fremantle Arts Centre to develop a 
national tour for the acclaimed We don’t need a map: 
a Martu experience of the Western Desert to show in 
galleries and institutions in New South Wales, Victoria, 
Queensland and the Northern Territory. We don’t need 
a map is a significant and innovative exhibition of Martu 
artworks, intermedia collaborations and land management 
and interpretative information.

 ▪ $50,000 to Turner Galleries, Mossenson Galleries, Venn 
Gallery, Art Collective WA and Moanacolutha Project 
Space to attend the Melbourne Art Fair in 2014.

 ▪ $25,000 to Art Collective WA to exhibit and promote 
mid-career and senior artists locally, nationally and 
internationally.

 ▪ A grant of $80,000 to Chamber of Arts and Culture WA, 
the State’s peak advocacy body for the arts and cultural 
sector. 

Writing 
In 2013-2014, DCA provided $659,993 in funding for 
writing. This included core funding of $474,827 to three WA 
writing organisations: 

Organisation Funding

Fremantle Press $304,660 

Australian Writers’ Guild $15,748 

writingWA $154,419 

Total $474,827

In addition, the Arts Development Grants Program provided 
$130,316 to two organisations and five individuals to support 
publishing, development of new work and sector development 
opportunities. 

Westerly Centre (The University of Western Australia) received 
$10,000; the Fellowship of Australian Writers WA received 
$14,000; and the Katharine Susannah Prichard Foundation 
Inc received $30,850 for an annual program of activities. 

Highlights included:

 ▪ $30,000 to Norman Jorgensen to write a book about the 
life of Jack Kelly, brother of bushranger Ned Kelly, who 
became a WA policeman and an international circus star.

 ▪ $25,000 to Michael William Robinson to write a collection 
of poems about homeless, marginalised and at risk young 
people in WA, and the people and services who support 
them.

 ▪ $20,000 to RKPIX Pty Ltd to develop a digital interactive 
e-book application for mobile devices and a three-minute 
animation teaser for the internationally published Western 
Australian children’s book series The Jake Series by 
author Ken Spillman and illustrator Chris Nixon.
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Indigenous Arts 

The DCA provided core funding to four Indigenous organisations 
to the value of $725,295:

Organisation Funding

Magabala Books $245,630

Yirra Yaakin Theatre Company $318,408

Goolarri Media Enterprise $80,691

Kimberley Aboriginal Law and Culture Centre $80,566

Total $725,295

Throughout the year, the Indigenous Arts Grants Program 
provided $216,755 to 12 organisations, small groups and 
individuals for arts and cultural activities including art form skills 
development, cultural maintenance, interstate and international 
touring and festivals. Nine of the 12 successful applicants were 
from regional areas. Highlights include:

 ▪ The Western Desert Kidney Health Project concluded up this 
year. DCA provided $300,000 for the duration of the project, 
which supported Western Desert communities to improve 
their kidney health through arts and education projects.

 ▪ The DCA provided $20,000 towards the British Council’s 
National Aboriginal Leadership program ‘Accelerate’, which 
ensured that two Western Australian participants were 
involved in the mentorship and training program. The program 
included travel to the UK as a career development opportunity 
for WA’s emerging Indigenous leaders in the creative 
industries.

 ▪ The DCA provided $20,000 support to the Perth International 
Arts Festival, in partnership with Yirra Yaakin Theatre 
Company, to present INDIGITAL. INDIGITAL was a one-day 
Indigenous arts symposium bringing together Indigenous 
practitioners working across different art forms and creative 
industries, along with non-indigenous practitioners interested 
in collaborations which bring Indigenous stories to the world. 
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Young People and the Arts 

DCA’s Young People and the Arts Grants Program supports 
arts activities by, with and for young people aged 26 years 
and under. Funding is provided to encourage young people to 
participate in and explore a broad range of arts and cultural 
activities. Core funding was provided to 13 performing arts 
companies with a youth focus. 

Organisation Funding

Buzz Dance Theatre $307,722

STEPS Youth Dance Company $114,071

Awesome Arts Australia $205,873

Propel Youth Arts $130,971

Southern Edge Arts $77,376

WA Youth Orchestra $187,482

Musica Viva $31,247

WA Youth Jazz Orchestra $55,268

Barking Gecko Theatre Company $442,459

Spare Parts Puppet Theatre $412,962

WA Youth Theatre Company $83,152

Children’s Book Council $42,729

The Literature Centre $54,146

Total $2,145,458

During the year DCA provided $350,051 in support 
of 26 activities through the development, distribution 
and marketing, fellowship and international scholarship 
categories, and eight through its Quick Response Program to 
a total of $21,445. Highlights include:

 ▪ The $30,000 annual Young People and the Arts 
International Scholarship was awarded to Katie Lenanton 
to complete a Masters of Curating, Mediating and 
Managing Arts at Aalto University, Helsinki, Finland.

 ▪ Propel Youth Arts WA to activate 192 William Street 
as a temporary youth arts hub with various cultural 
activities for young people between the ages of 12 and 
26 with funding of $26,256. Activities in the space 
included the KickstART Festival as part of National Youth 
Week; Restoring Hope Art Exhibition as part of National 
Refugee Week; the Home is Where the Heart Is exhibition 
raising awareness of homelessness in WA, the MOSAIC 
Photograpy Exhibition and The Sketchbook Project 
exhibition. 

Young People and the Arts Fellowships, worth $15,000 each, 
were awarded to:

 ▪ Emma Fishwick, dancer and choreographer, for an eight-
month period of research, skills development and creative 
collaboration in Perth and abroad;

 ▪ Visual artist Sebastian Befumo, for a solo exhibition in 
Fremantle at PS Art Space, followed by a residency with 
Residencia Corazon and mentorship with Argentinian 
artist Camilo Guinot in Buenos Aires, Argentina, 
culminating in a residency at Fremantle Arts Centre; and

 ▪ Illustrator Christopher Nixon, to illustrate and direct 
animation projects, through a series of projects and 
activities taking place in Australia and Mumbai, India.
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Disability and the arts 

Core funding was provided to DADAA as the State’s peak 
organisation in the area of disability and the arts. 

Organisation Funding

DADAA $121,208

Total $121,208

Highlights include:

 ▪ Additional support for the HERE&NOW13 exhibition was 
provided through a partnership between DCA, Disability 
Services Commission, DADAA and the Lawrence Wilson 
Art Gallery. DCA provided additional funds of $10,326 
to emerging curator, Katherine Wilkinson to curate the 
exhibition and provide mentoring to the artists. 

 ▪ DCA provided $30,000 support for Ruah Community 
Services in partnership with Healthway and Lotterywest. 
The funding supported Our Wellbeing Project, a series of 
regional tours offering community events, in a side-show 
marquee at selected agricultural shows in WA to raise 
awareness of mental health and how the community can 
support the recovery process of people living with severe 
mental illness.

 ▪ DCA funded the Disability Access Forum in December 
2013, to highlight the range of services and activities 
in the culture and arts portfolio that are aimed at 
supporting people with disabilities to access culture and 
arts services. This forum included presentations from 
organisations working in the disability sector.

Regional and community arts 

The DCA provided core funding to three regional and 
community membership and service organisations to a total 
value of $842,045.

Organisation Funding

Community Arts Network WA Inc $176,108

Country Arts (WA) Inc $483,954

Kulcha Multicultural Arts of WA Inc $181,983

Total $842,045

The DCA provided $49,400 to the Mundaring Arts Centre 
and $61,952 to Theatre Kimberley for an annual program of 
activities. Highlights include:

 ▪ Support for two WA multi-cultural artists working in 
hybrid arts to attend the Kultour Gathering in Brisbane 
in September 2013. Kultour is a national organisation 
committed to advancing cultural diversity. 

 ▪ In partnership with Country Arts WA, DCA funding 
provided a travel subsidy to artists and arts workers 
based in WA to travel to, and attend, the 2014 Regional 
Arts Australia Summit Arts & Edges in Kalgoorlie in 
October 2014. DCA received 25 applications to the Arts & 
Edges Travel Subsidy, of which 16 received funding.

 ▪ Funding of $465,000 was provided to the Regional 
Performing Arts Touring Program, which encompasses 
a range of touring activities supporting regional access 
to, and engagement with, high quality professional 
performances across Western Australia.
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Contemporary Interdisciplinary and Multi Arts

The DCA further implemented its plan to support new forms 
of creative work by funding interdisciplinary arts programs. 
Core funding was provided to: 

Organisation Funding

Artrage $337,519 

Fremantle Arts Centre $693,059 

Perth Institute of Contemporary Arts  $693,435 

Total $1,724,013

Highlights included:

 ▪ The DCA entering into its the third year of a three-year 
agreement with pvi collective, providing $65,000 per 
annum to run CIA Studios in Newcastle Street, West 
Perth, providing artists with the opportunity to share skills, 
engage in critical peer support and experiment with new 
artistic practice. pvi collective is a tactical media arts 
group which produce interdisciplinary artworks.

 ▪ A matched funding agreement between DCA and the 
Australia Council has been completed to support pvi 
collective with funding of $100,000 over the next two 
years. 

 ▪ The DCA provided a second year of funding to the Perth 
International Arts Festival with $60,000 to employ a 
digital producer. 

Community Collections 

The focus of this program is to provide funding for collecting 
organisations, collection professionals and artists working 
with community collections. Core funding was provided to:

Organisation Funding

Museums Australia (WA) $85,030

Royal Western Australian Historical Society $45,919

Total $130,949

DCA’s Community Collections funding program Connect 
provided $100,870 to support artist residencies, professional 
development and innovative public programs to better engage 
diverse communities with collections.

Highlights include: 

 ▪ The continued partnership with the City of Kalgoorlie-
Boulder to support the Goldfields Collections Care Hub, 
providing $40,000 over three years 2012 - 2014.

 ▪ Nyamba Buru Yawuru Ltd was provided $50,000 towards 
the professional development of two Yawuru people, 
Bart Pigram and Maya Shioji, to enhance their skills and 
experience as curators working alongside mentors at 
the WA Museum to create a touring exhibition Lustre: 
Pearling and Australia.

 ▪ The Army Museum of WA was supported with $42,012 
through the Community Collections Artist in Residence 
Program to engage with the Army Museum’s collection 
and deliver 11 original artworks that focus on the history 
of the WA raised 11th Battalion, the first Battalion ashore 
at the Gallipoli Landing.
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Devolved funding

The DCA also contracts non-government organisations to 
manage programs on its behalf to ensure the optimal use of 
funding and delivery of the best arts development outcomes 
through the most applicable organisation.

Country Arts WA (CAWA)

CAWA manages two programs on behalf of the Department 
including:

 ▪ $327,124 towards the Regional Organisational Funding 
Program, which is a competitive funding program 
supporting regional arts organisations to coordinate 
diverse arts and cultural activities; and

 ▪ $465,000 towards the Regional Performing Arts Touring 
Program, which encompasses a range of touring activities 
supporting regional access to, and engagement with 
high quality professional performances across Western 
Australia.

Community Arts Network Western Australia (CAN WA)

CAN WA manages two programs on behalf of DCA:

 ▪ $266,821 to the Catalyst Community Arts Fund which 
supports community determined arts, cultural and skills 
development projects across Western Australia; and

 ▪ $90,962 to the Creative Networks Regional Local 
Government Fund which supports local regional 
government authorities through skills development, 
mentoring, networking and intensive training to develop 
their capacity to use art and culture to improve the lives of 
citizens. 

Key actions

	Pilot the KidsCulture program in the 
local government of Albany
The DCA launched the KidsCulture Pilot Project in the City 
of Albany in March 2014. The KidsCulture project enables 
children and young people aged 5 – 18 years from eligible 
low income families to participate in arts and cultural 
activities. The pilot will identify the barriers to participation, 
which will help to determine how best to deliver any future 
program. The KidsCulture Pilot Project has been adapted, 
with assistance from the Department of Sport and Recreation, 
from the highly successful KidSport program.

	Implement the findings of the 
funding process review of the DCA 
grant programs
The DCA initiated a funding process review focussing on 
how to respond to changes in the culture and arts sector 
and community through its funding activities. As a result of 
this review, DCA has developed models around grant and 
organisation funding. This work is ongoing.
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	Stakeholder consultation to plan for 
the small to medium theatre sector 
2014-2018 
Deckchair Theatre and ThinIce voluntarily wound up their 
operations in 2012. The Minister approved $380,000 
in funding previously allocated to these companies to 
be reallocated to the small to medium theatre sector. 
DCA contracted independent theatre consultant Fullsky 
to consult with the WA professional theatre sector and 
relevant stakeholders to determine the preferred methods 
of reallocation of this funding. Following local and national 
research, the consultant developed a draft report of key 
findings. Sector feedback has been invited and a final report 
will be submitted in July 2014. 

	Launch the DCA Regional Arts and 
Cultural Action Plan
The DCA’s Regional Arts and Cultural Action Plan (the Action 
Plan) is a framework for DCA to partner with stakeholders 
and guide government investment in arts and cultural 
infrastructure, which includes people, technology, buildings 
and collections in regional WA. The Action Plan will be 
released in the new financial year.

	Review DCA’s approach to 
supporting creative industries
The DCA incorporated the Contemporary Music and Designer 
Fashion funding programs into a single Creative Industries 
funding program from 1 January 2014. A review of the DCA’s 
Creative Industries program is being undertaken to identify 
how it will meet the sector’s future needs. Developing a 
program to support Creative Industries was in direct response 
to the Creating Value Sector Policy Framework 2010-
2014, which outlines DCA’s strategic objectives to support 
WA’s culture and arts sector. The introduction of a more 
comprehensive program will respond to the Funding Process 
Review, and the efficient delivery of a grants program. 
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	Implement an online grants 
management system
An online grants management system is in the final 
stages of development following recommendations from 
the funding process review. It is being developed to 
provide a contemporary solution for grant applications and 
management. 

The system will include a web portal that allows grant 
applicants and DCA funded arts organisations to draft and 
submit applications and reports online. The web portal 
and grants database have been integrated to enable DCA 
to process funding submissions, assessments, payments, 
acquittals and reporting for all DCA funding. The system 
will be integrated with the corporate finance and records 
management systems. 

	Develop and promote cultural 
initiatives to support international 
trade and enhance the arts and 
culture sector
Under the terms of a Service Delivery Arrangement (SDA) 
with the Commonwealth Attorney-General’s Department 
(Ministry for the Arts), DCA provides the communities of 
Christmas Island and Cocos Keeling Islands with services 
commensurate to those delivered to similarly remote WA 
communities. The SDA budget for the reporting period was 
$100,000 and covered activities by DCA, Country Arts WA, 
Community Arts Network WA, Art On The Move and the WA 
Museum. 

The DCA continued its commitment to fostering cultural 
exchanges with Singapore including:

 ▪ $14,000 for a partnership between writingWA and the 
National Book Development Council of Singapore to 
produce a joint anthology of children’s stories featuring 
works by seven Western Australian authors and seven 
from Singapore. Additional outcomes for WA authors 
included new agents, stockists and publishing/licensing 
agreements in Singapore.

 ▪ $40,000 for a two-year contemporary music exchange 
involving the WA Music Industry Association, Timbre 
Music (Singapore) and Music Matters (Singapore). This 
provided three Singapore bands with an opportunity to 
perform at the 2013 WAMi Festival and five WA bands 
the chance to play at Singapore events in May and June 
2014.
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Strategic initiative 3:  
Cultural infrastructure
Outcome statement: The Department of Culture and Arts plans, manages and delivers appropriate cultural infrastructure for the people of Western 

Australia. 

Performance highlights
The DCA property portfolio comprises seven buildings, including: 

 ▪ Arts House - heritage listed property in the Perth Cultural 
Centre and home to The Blue Room. 

 ▪ PICA building - heritage listed property in the Perth Cultural 
Centre.

 ▪ Old Customs House - heritage listed property in Fremantle 
and home to Artsource.

 ▪ Short Street - heritage listed property in Fremantle and 
home to Spare Parts Puppet Theatre.

 ▪ King Street Arts Centre in the Perth CBD with multiple arts 
organisation tenancies.

 ▪ The Bell Tower.

 ▪ The State Records Office offsite storage facility.

Management responsibilities include delivery of routine 
maintenance, minor works, leases, upgrades and management of 
meeting rooms. 

 ▪ The Culture and Arts Portfolio’s Asset Maintenance Program 
is coordinated by DCA. Works are identified and prioritised 
by Portfolio organisations. The DCA’s Infrastructure Planning 
and Support (IPS) team then prepares a whole of Portfolio 
maintenance program which is provided to Department of 
Finance’s Building Management and Works (BMW) team to be 
delivered through contracted service arranger, Spotless. 

As of 30 June 2014, 70 proposals from Portfolio organisations 
were assessed by DCA and BMW as being eligible for funding. 
Of these, 46 received final endorsement, and purchase orders 
with a combined value of $8.58 million were issued. Projects to 
receive funding in 2013-14 include:

 ▪ State Library of WA - roof membrane replacement;

 ▪ State Library of WA - fire systems upgrade;

 ▪ WA Museum - Shipwreck Galleries roof replacement;

 ▪ WA Museum - HMAS Ovens stairways replacement;

 ▪ WA Museum - Shipwreck Galleries limestone restoration; 
and

 ▪ Perth Theatre Trust - for maintenance work at His Majesty’s 
Theatre.

 ▪ The development of conservation management plans for 
buildings of heritage significance is ongoing and will guide 
effective decision making in the management and use of 
heritage buildings.

 ▪ The DCA is also an active supporter of Open House Perth, 
an annual free event showcasing Perth’s architecture and 
encouraging better understanding of contemporary, historic 
and sustainable design within the city. Public access to DCA’s 
premises at Gordon Stephenson House was a key attraction in 
the Open House 2013 itinerary. 
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Key actions

	Implement the Strategic Asset 
Planning and Management 
Framework
The DCA coordinates the delivery of the Portfolio’s 
consolidated Strategic Asset Plan (SAP). The Department 
of Treasury requires a comprehensive SAP to be submitted 
every three years, updated in the interim years, and this year 
was the final of DCA’s latest three-year SAP. 

SAP aims to ensure government agencies can demonstrate 
that they have planning processes in place for the effective 
delivery of services to the Western Australian community 
and that infrastructure planning also supports the delivery of 
these services. 

	Goldfields Art Centre upgrade
In May 2014 the Government approved an allocation of 
$6.2 million for the first phase of the re-development of 
the Goldfields Arts Centre. The funding includes $5 million 
to refurbish the facility and $1.2 million over four years to 
assist with administration. The funding was provided to the 
Department of Training and Workforce Development (DTWD) 
from the Royalties for Regions Regional Infrastructure and 
Headworks Fund. The DTWD is managing this phase of the 
development program in consultation with DCA, the City of 
Kalgoorlie-Boulder and other key stakeholders.
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	Apply Cultural Infrastructure 
Directions principles to a 
management model for regional 
venues, arts and entertainment 
centres 
Cultural Infrastructure Directions 2012-2014 (CID) is in its 
final year, after which it will be reviewed.

The document contains a set of common and clear principles 
on which to develop projects and plans for arts and cultural 
infrastructure, whether that is for people, technology or 
buildings. 

CID provides a framework to plan cultural infrastructure 
across WA, highlighting the need for communities to 
understand their needs, strengths and histories, and to be 
actively involved in planning for social infrastructure, including 
cultural infrastructure.

	Complete building condition and 
technical equipment assessments 
for DCA and culture and arts 
portfolio buildings to support 
a business case for fitness for 
purpose upgrades
In 2013-14 DCA prepared an Infrastructure Improvement 
Program (IIP) Business Case seeking funding for fitness for 
purpose upgrades to buildings in the Portfolio. The State 
Government supported the business case with an allocation 
of $7.8 million over four years in the 2014-15 State Budget.

The Portfolio organisations provided Strategic Asset 
Plans identifying their service delivery priorities and the 
infrastructure and equipment-related issues that need to be 
addressed to meet these prioritises. 

The IIP will deliver improvements designed to address gaps 
in the performance of infrastructure essential to the delivery 
of contemporary culture and arts services. These have 
occurred over time due to difficulties in keeping pace with 
technological developments and the ongoing delivery of 
contemporary services in heritage and other buildings that 
are not purpose built. 
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	Implement the State Government’s 
Strategic Asset Planning and 
Management Framework which 
identifies the current and future 
cultural infrastructure needs
New Museum Project

The $428.3 million New Museum Project is now in project 
delivery stage. The Project Definition Plan for the Perth 
site was endorsed by the New Museum Project Steering 
Committee in April 2014 with no significant variations to the 
project business case. 

The New Museum Project Governance Framework, developed 
for the planning phase of the project, has been revised to 
enable the Project Control Group to provide a cross-agency 
forum for leadership and overall project direction. 

Stage One of the New Museum Project includes heritage 
conservation work to the facades of the existing heritage 
buildings that began this year. Work to upgrade the WA 
Museum’s Collections and Research Centre in Welshpool also 
commenced. 

	Prepare a feasibility study on 
options for energy supply to Perth 
Cultural Centre arts institutions
Due to the current planning of the New Museum Project and 
the concurrent need to replace end-of-lifecycle plant in the 
Art Gallery of WA and the State Library of WA, a business 
case was undertaken by DCA to assess the opportunity for 
a cost effective solution that could meet the operational 
requirements of all facilities within the Perth Cultural Centre.

The Central Energy Plant Business Case was completed in 
April 2014 for consideration by the New Museum Project 
Steering Committee.

	Develop and implement a DCA 
facilities policy
The scope and intent of the proposed Facilities Policy was 
assessed and a decision was made to develop statements on 
each venue that describe the venue and what it can be used 
for. This revised document is being prepared for release in 
2014-15. 
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Strategic initiative 4:  
Portfolio services and policy
Outcome statement: The Department of Culture and the Arts provides business services and advice that aligns to Government and the Culture and 

Arts Portfolio.

Performance highlights
 ▪ DCA continued implementing a Candidate Management System 

(CMS), to improve the efficiency of recruitment processes. 
Phase One of the project has been implimented. 

 ▪ A number of compliance and reporting requirements were met 
on behalf of the Portfolio. This included meeting whole-of-
Government reporting deadlines, coordination and reporting for 
the State Budget mid-year review process and development of 
the Portfolio’s budget for inclusion in the State Budget papers. 

 ▪ Annual financial statements were provided for the Portfolio’s 
organisations and The Swan Bells Foundation. 

 ▪ The Audit and Review function is a key component of the 
corporate governance framework by which DCA maintains 
effective systems of accountability and control. It assists 
DCA in accomplishing its objectives by bringing a systematic, 
disciplined approach to evaluating and improving the 
effectiveness of the organisation’s risk management, control 
and governance processes through implementation of the 
Annual Audit Plan. Execution of the plan in 2013-14 resulted in 
the completion of six audits and six audit follow ups. Significant 
recommendations were made in respect of business continuity 
management and controls over payroll processes. Audit 
assurances were also provided over the decommissioning 
of Office of Shared Services and the transition of related 
data and processes to DCA. The implementation of 
audit recommendations continues to assist in delivering 
improvements in efficiency and effectiveness of business 
activities.



40 

 ▪ During the year, Human Resources commenced a review of the 
existing internal Staff Development System to better support 
development of a workforce aligned with the needs of the WA 
culture and arts industry.

 ▪ The Substantive Equality Reference Group was reconvened, 
ensuring relevant stakeholder groups within DCA and the 
Culture and Arts Portfolio are consulted and informed on DCA’s 
major projects.

 ▪ The State Government’s Enhanced Voluntary Severance process 
was managed within the Portfolio without significant impact 
on DCA service provision. Across the Portfolio, 27 staff took up 
the offer, and the severance process was completed within the 
public sector timeframe of 31 March 2014. 

 ▪ DCA contributed to the Public Sector Commission Employee 
Perception Survey in March 2014 and will use the results to 
further support ongoing workforce initiatives.

 ▪ An ongoing policy and procedure review will support the 
delegation changes to Portfolio organisations, and for ongoing 
Department maintenance.
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Key actions

	Partner with the Portfolio 
organisations to develop a shared 
service delivery model
During the year DCA worked with Portfolio organisations 
to develop a beneficial shared service delivery model to 
ensure efficient delivery of corporate services. This included 
the return of functions undertaken by the Office of Shared 
Services and the outplacement of vital Human Resources and 
Finance staff resources to the Portfolio organisations.

	Develop agreed service standards 
for the core business activities and 
the key tasks
In 2013-14 DCA began work with the Portfolio organisations 
to develop a cooperative Service Level Agreement that 
aligns core Portfolio business activities and tasks with DCA’s 
objectives and initiatives. This includes developing service 
standards for the delivery of HR, Financial and Information 
Services. 

	Complete the Office of Shared 
Services decommissioning project
Following the decommissioning of the Office of Shared 
Services, DCA successfully transitioned services including 
Finance, Human Resources and Payroll in-house on behalf 
of the Portfolio. As part of the transition, TechnologyOne, a 
financial management system, was effectively implemented 
to provide improved financial processing and strategic 
reporting and financial management capabilities.
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	Implement business improvement 
initiatives for policy, procedures,  
risk, project management and records
 ▪ The Executive Leadership Team has approved a project 

to upgrade DCA’s Intranet site, using SharePoint 2013 as 
the platform.

 ▪ Further training on risk management and the identification 
of misconduct risks has been a focus during the year.

 ▪ Regular recordkeeping training workshops were provided 
to staff to raise awareness of recordkeeping requirements 
and to provide instruction in recordkeeping systems and 
recordkeeping responsibilities. All new staff are trained 
and refresher training workshops and one-on-one training 
are provided to existing staff as required.

 ▪ DCA has implemented many of the Occupational 
Health and Safety (OSH) initiatives recommended by 
an OSH audit in the previous financial year. These 
included establishing an OSH committee, training OSH 
representatives, and providing OSH training in recognised 
areas of need such as manager training and mental 
health awareness training across the Portfolio.

 ▪ The Information Services (IS) section has established an 
effective Information and Communications Technologies 
governance framework with the aim of servicing the 
Portfolio in a more transparent, directed and measurable 
manner. The framework will contribute to more effective 
relationships within the Portfolio and provide clear limits 
and understanding of roles and responsibilities. It also 
forms the foundation for continuous improvement utilising 
new technologies.

 ▪ During 2013-14 work began on an Information 
Management Strategy to ensure corporate information 
and storage practices meet with the appropriate 
legislation and compliance requirements. The project will 
improve internal workflow procedures and aims to provide 
increased mobility for staff and their capacity to operate in 
remote and regional areas.

 ▪ This year IS also implemented new internal self-service 
web portal systems which provide effective productivity 
tools that allow portfolio staff to manage their own 
systems account, password and related information.
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	Implement the priority Strategic 
Workforce Plan initiatives
The Portfolio-wide Strategic Workforce Plan 2012-2017 
(the Plan) is on schedule with 12 of 42 initiatives completed. 
Ongoing communication within the Portfolio and key 
stakeholders has been essential to ensure the Plan remains 
relevant and the initiatives prioritised. 

Throughout the year, DCA provided training opportunities to 
managers and supervisors across the Portfolio. In addition, 
the Department provided DCA employees with the opportunity 
to undertake internal and external professional development 
programs.

The DCA’s Business Continuity Management Plan was 
updated during the year. The focus this year has been further 
training and the identification of misconduct risks. 

	Implement the ICT disaster recovery 
plan and recovery site for the 
portfolio
Information Services finalised a Disaster Recovery Plan 
and implemented a new disaster recovery site. This work 
significantly reduces the data recovery time from 12 weeks 
to a same-day recovery of core systems. The project has 
enabled DCA to upgrade its production systems and house 
them in a world class data centre facility, significantly 
improving the performance and reliability of core systems. 
This has provided significant improvements in core systems 
performance and reliability. Portfolio organisations have 
utilised this new equipment to provide storage for their 
digitisation programs.
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State Records Office
The functions and responsibilities of the State Records Office (SRO) are set 
out in the State Records Act 2000. The SRO’s Strategic Plan 2010-2013 
identified three key strategic priorities:

 ▪ Empowering government to achieve good recordkeeping;

 ▪ Ensuring State archives are preserved and well managed; and

 ▪ Enabling access to State archives.

In March 2014, the SRO introduced a new Strategic Plan 2014-18.

The SRO reflects its whole-of-government functions under the State 
Records Act 2000 through its Strategic Plan.

Strategic priority 1: Empowering government to achieve good recordkeeping
The SRO provides an advisory service to State and local government in 
Western Australia on matters relating to recordkeeping and information 
management. The SRO also acts as the operational arm of the State 
Records Commission in regulating government recordkeeping through:

 ▪ The review of agency Recordkeeping Plans and Disposal 
Authorities;

 ▪ Standards/guidelines development; and

 ▪ Compliance monitoring and investigations of breaches of the State 
Records Act 2000.

Release of General Disposal Authority for State Government 
information

In December 2013, Auditor General and Chair of the State Records 
Commission, Colin Murphy launched the new General Disposal 
Authority for State Government Information (GDASG). Guest speaker 
Professor Fiona Stanley AC stressed the value of archives for 
historical, medical and other types of research; and the importance 
of documents like the GDASG which identify archival documents for 
preservation.

The GDASG, developed by the SRO in consultation with State 
government agencies during 2013, builds on previous general 
disposal authorities issued by the State Records Commission and 
now provides extensive coverage for the disposal of sets of records 
common across State government. With the GDASG and agency-
specific Disposal Authorities, Western Australia has full coverage for 
the legal disposal of State government information. 

The SRO provided an information session about the implementation 
of this new disposal tool on 25 February 2014 to about 190 
personnel from a diverse range of agencies and private consultancy 
groups.

The GDASG is available on the SRO website at www.sro.wa.gov.au
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Review of Recordkeeping Plans and Disposal Authorities

A Recordkeeping Plan describes a government agency’s record 
keeping systems, disposal arrangements, policies and practices. 
Through the Disposal Authority component, a Recordkeeping Plan 
also identifies agency records that are to be retained permanently 
as State archives. Recordkeeping Plans identify an agency’s 
restricted access archives and the periods of restriction before 
such records are openly accessible by the public.

Under the State Records Act 2000, all government agencies are 
required to submit their Recordkeeping Plans for approval by the 
State Records Commission, and review these within five years 
of the approval date or last review. Reports of these reviews 
are assessed by the State Records Office on behalf of the State 
Records Commission.

Recordkeeping Plans 2013-14:

Review of Recordkeeping Plans and Disposal Authorities

New or amended Recordkeeping Plans 36

Recordkeeping Plans approved for continuation 6

New, amended or revised Disposal Authorities approved 27

Disposal Authorities approved for continuation 10

Recordkeeping Plan Review reports submitted to the 
Commission for consideration

19

Information management training

In 2013-14, the SRO conducted targeted training, including:

 ▪ University Student Guild members’ recordkeeping 
responsibilities and requirements;

 ▪ The Department of Local Government and Communities, 
focusing on recordkeeping responsibilities for newly elected 
Mayors, Presidents and Deputies; and

 ▪ A presentation on digital recordkeeping and participation 
on a discussion panel at Main Roads WA’s Digital Route 
Seminar.

Advice and consultancy

The SRO participated as a member of the Department of 
Finance’s Cloud Strategy Group, providing input into the 
Department’s suite of documentation that supports cloud 
computing within the WA public sector.

The SRO was a member of the Shared Services Decommissioning 
Team established by the Department of Finance. The SRO 
provided advice and guidance on recordkeeping requirements in 
support of a major whole-of-government initiative. 

The SRO provided advice and guidance to the Swan 
Kalamunda Health Service Transition and Decommissioning 
Project on recordkeeping requirements in preparation for the 
decommissioning of the Swan District Hospital.
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WS Lonnie Awards

In 2014, the SRO worked with the Institute of Public 
Administration (IPAA) WA Division to shortlist finalists for the 
recordkeeping category of the WS Lonnie Awards, which was 
won by the Fremantle Port Authority, with commendations going 
to the Department of Mines and Petroleum, and the WA Electoral 
Commission. 

Implementation of Online Retention and Disposal 
Application

In December 2013, the SRO officially introduced its Online 
Retention and Disposal Application (ORDA) for government agency 
use following a pilot program. ORDA is a web-based application 
that enables government agency staff, and records consultants 
working with agencies, to draft and submit Retention and Disposal 
Schedules to the SRO in a secure online environment.

Over the year, 42 disposal authorities were registered and 
progressed via ORDA with 20 of these being completed and 
receiving approval by the State Records Commission.

The implementation of ORDA was shortlisted in the 2013 
Premier’s Awards in the Improving Government category.
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Strategic priority 2: Ensuring State archives are preserved and well managed
The State Archives Collection

In 2013-14, the SRO operated a limited preservation program for 
State archives due to resourcing constraints and lack of available 
services. The SRO digitised about 30 per cent of the Surveyor’s field 
books with financial assistance provided by the Friends of Battye 
Library. In addition, 20 volumes of rate books for Kalgoorlie-Boulder 
were preserved. The SRO also undertook systems development work 
to support the digital preservation of digitised content held by the 
SRO.

The SRO manages the State Archives Collection which is the largest 
documentary heritage collection in the State, comprising more than 
two million items, or about 15 linear kilometres. The collection covers 
the period 1829 through to 2001, when the SRO’s archival storage 
facilities reached capacity. 

The SRO undertakes preservation work for items in the State Archives 
Collection, including reformatting to digital or microfilm formats, 
or treatment work. The SRO also provides government agencies 
with preservation advice, as well as a reformatting service for State 
archives in agency custody. 

State Archives awaiting transfer

About 50 linear kilometres of State archives await immediate 
assessment and transfer to SRO custody, pending the availability 
of additional storage capacity. The volume of archives awaiting 
transfer is estimated to be growing at 1.5 linear kilometres per 
year. Increasing quantities of digital archives are also awaiting 
transfer, pending the SRO having the capacity and infrastructure to 
accommodate and maintain them.

Collection management system

The SRO continues to work towards introducing a new archives 
management system as its existing system, which includes the online 
public catalogue Archives Explored Online, has reached end-of-life 
and requires replacement. The new system is based on the open 
source software ICA-AtoM (Access to Memory) that was developed 
internationally and accords with International Council of Archives 
standards. 

Throughout 2013-14, the SRO modified ICA-Atom so that it meets 
the Australian descriptive standard for archives. The SRO is planning 
to implement the new system and migrate the State Archives 
Collection data during the coming financial year. 
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Strategic priority 3: Enabling access to State archives
During 2013-14 State archives access included: 

Searches and loans

Search Room clients 3,977

Archives accessed via search room 10,704

Remote research enquiries 755

Government loans 1,139

This summary does not reflect the complexity of client interaction. 
While the SRO measures the number of contacts with the public, the 
amount of staff time allocated in researching individual queries and 
working with clients to help them understand finding aids and explore 
the State archives collection is not currently reflected.

The number of online accesses will be available when the SRO’s new 
Collection Management System goes live. 

The SRO’s website recorded 75,250 unique visitors in 2013-14.

Public access to archives

Public access to State archives is primarily via the SRO’s public 
search room located on the ground floor of the Alexander Library 
Building, Northbridge.

The SRO provides a free self-serve digital copying facility in the 
Search Room which has proven highly successful. Clients can 
create images from State archives and save these to their own 
USB device. In 2013-14, clients copied 44,036 images from 
State archives for research purposes.

The SRO continues to add digitised copies of State archives to its 
website to improve broader public access. In 2013-14, the SRO 
continued its project to digitise 19th century Crown Survey field 
books. This project was made possible with funding and support 
from the Friends of Battye Library Society Inc. A further 161 
field books were digitised and made available through the SRO’s 
website in 2013-14, bringing the total number of field books 
available online to 356.

The SRO provides a limited research service to regional, interstate 
and overseas clients, as well as to clients who are otherwise 
unable to visit to the SRO search room. In 2013-14, the SRO 
received and responded to 755 written research requests.
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Government access to archives

The SRO operates a fee-based loans service for government 
agencies requiring access to State archives that have been 
transferred to the collection. During the year, 1,139 archives were 
loaned to government agencies on a short-term basis.

Geoffrey Bolton Lecture 

The State Records Office’s annual Geoffrey Bolton Lecture was 
presented in 2013 by Professor Marcia Langton AM, Foundation 
Chair in Australian Indigenous Studies at the University of 
Melbourne. Professor Langton delivered her address, The 
Resonance of History: archives, past decisions and Indigenous 
disadvantage to an audience of more than 250 attendees at 
Government House Ballroom. The lecture was also broadcast by 
the ABC’s Radio National program.

The lecture honours distinguished Australian historian, Emeritus 
Professor Geoffrey Bolton AO, recognising Professor Bolton’s use 
of archives, his service on various State Archives committees, and 
his overall contribution to the promotion of Western Australian 
history and archives. 

The lecture series has raised awareness of the importance of 
archives and record keeping in Western Australia, and promotes 
debate about the use and interpretation of archives in what is now 
a nationally important forum.

Margaret Medcalf Award 2014

Penelope Hetherington won the 2014 Margaret Medcalf Award 
for her book The Marriage Knot: marriage and divorce in Western 
Australia, 1829 – 1900, published by UWA Publishing. The 
judging panel also awarded a special commendation to Annie 
Boyd for her book Koombana Days published by Fremantle Press. 
The awards were presented by the Minister for Culture and the 
Arts.

The Award is given for excellence in referencing and research, 
and honours Miss Margaret Medcalf OAM, the second State 
Archivist of Western Australia (1971-1989), for her valuable 
contribution to the development of archives in Western Australia. 
Works nominated for the award must demonstrate use of archival 
sources, and substantial, but not necessarily exclusive, use 
of State archives held by the SRO. Nominated works may be 
published or unpublished, fiction or non-fiction and may comprise 
any format such as a book, article, conference paper, website, or 
index.
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Guide to the 1983 State Cabinet Records

The SRO released an online Guide to the 1983 State Cabinet 
Records (The Guide) on WA Day as part of the annual release of 
State Cabinet records from their 30-year access embargo. The 
Guide includes a commentary by Emeritus Professor David Black 
AM, Chairperson of WA Parliament’s History Advisory Committee, 
on the events and issues facing State Cabinet in 1983, the year 
a Labor Government was elected, led by former Premier Brian 
Burke. The Guide is available on the SRO website.

Lunchtime seminars

In 2013-14, the SRO continued its series of free public lunchtime 
seminars relating to State archives and their use, including:

 ▪ July 2013: guest speaker Professor Len Collard – Aboriginal 
place names in Perth and the South West;

 ▪ September 2013: guest speaker Dr Debra Rosser - The 
Find and Connect Web Resource for Forgotten Australians, 
Former Child Migrants and everyone with an interest in the 
history of out-of-home ‘care’ in Australia;

 ▪ November 2013: SRO staff member Tom Reynolds - Land 
records in the State Archives Collection;

 ▪ March 2014: SRO staff member Dr Lise Summers - Archival 
Intelligence – searching archive catalogues and finding aids; 
and

 ▪ May 2014: guest speaker Dr Ingrid van Bremen - Western 
Building Construction: Roofs.
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State Records Office Compliance with the State Records Act 2000

The following information is provided as evidence of compliance 
with legislative requirements (i.e. the State Records Act 2000 and 
the State Records Commission’s Standards).

The State Records Office of WA’s Recordkeeping Plan (the Plan) 
was fully revised during 2013-14 and the amended Plan was 
approved by the State Records Commission on 6 December 
2013. Revision of the State Records Office’s Retention and 
Disposal Schedule is in progress.

During 2013-14, the State Records Office completed 
improvements to recordkeeping practices as outlined in the 
amended Plan, including:

 ▪ Rollout of the Total Records and Information Management 
(TRIM) Electronic Document and Records Management 
System (EDRMS) to all State Records Office staff who create 
and capture records;

 ▪ Recordkeeping policies and procedures were revised to 
reflect updated practices resulting from an upgrade of the 
TRIM records management system and staff participated in 
electronic records management training;

 ▪ Quick reference guides have been developed which provide 
staff with easy access to recordkeeping resources;

 ▪ Website management policy and procedures have been 
implemented; and

 ▪ The merged thesaurus was revised to ensure terms 
accurately reflect State Records Office processes and 
current language.

 ▪ One-on-one training has been provided to staff to enable 
them to effectively register electronic records into the TRIM 
EDRMS. All new staff receive a comprehensive induction to 
their new position via DCA’s Portfolio induction program and 
also within the SRO.
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Department of Culture and the Arts 
 ▪ The State Government has committed $428.3 million for a 

new State Museum for WA. Planning for the new museum is 
currently in the project delivery phase.

 ▪ The Culture and Arts Portfolio manages more than 40 buildings, 
including 33 heritage listed buildings. These buildings are 
essential to the delivery of services to the community. The 
Portfolio maintenance program focuses on ensuring the safety 
of staff and visitors and a key challenge is to maintain fitness 
for purpose of these buildings so that contemporary services 
can be delivered.

 ▪ In consultation with the arts sector and the community DCA is 
developing a framework to measure, and better understand, the 
public value created through State Government investment in 
arts and culture.

State Records Office 
The SRO continues to be unable to accept the transfer of hard copy 
and digital archives from State and local government agencies, due to 
lack of storage capacity. The SRO’s existing archival storage facilities 
reached capacity in July 2001. As a result, the State Archivist requires 
government agencies to maintain control of archives awaiting transfer. 

The SRO has also been unable to implement a formal compliance 
monitoring regime of government recordkeeping due to lack of 
resourcing. The recordkeeping plan review cycle and the investigation 
of suspected breaches of the State Records Act 2000 are the chief 
mechanisms for ensuring agency compliance with the Act.

53 
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Ministerial directives
Nil

Pricing policies
No pricing policies apply to DCA as it is not a commercial agency.

Governance disclosures 
Interests of senior officers - Nil 

Major capital projects
New Museum Project
The New Museum Project is now in project delivery stage. At an estimated capital cost of  
$428.3 million, the Project Definition Plan for the Perth site was endorsed by the  
New Museum Project Steering Committee in April 2014 with no significant variations to the project 
business case. 

Welshpool Collection and Research Centre upgrade
As part of the New Museum Project, a capital provision of $17.46 million has been allocated from within 
the total New Museum Project budget towards capital works at the Collections and Research Centre (CRC) 
in Welshpool. 

The Design Development Report for the Welshpool CRC was signed off and contract documentation 
prepared for building companies to respond to.

55 
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Other legal requirements
In compliance with Section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, DCA is required to report on expenditure incurred during the financial year in relations to 
advertising agencies, market research organisation, polling organisations, direct mail organisations and media advertising organisations. Details are as 
follows.

DCA and SRO expenditure 2013-2014

Expenditure with advertising agencies $0

Expenditure with market research agencies  

Patterson Research Group $28,237

Australian Bureau of Statistics $14,684

S.C Lennon and Associates $17,238

Expenditure with polling agencies $0

Expenditure with direct mail agencies $0

Expenditure with media advertising agencies  

Adcorp Australia

DCA $11,190

SRO $102

Expenditure with State Law Publisher

SRO $190

Total expenditure $71,641
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Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 
outcomes 
The DCA is committed to ensuring that people with disability, their 
families, friends and carers have the same opportunities, rights 
and responsibilities enjoyed as others to access cultural services, 
information and facilities. Progress towards meeting the desired 
outcomes of DCA’s Disability Access and Inclusion Plan is outlined 
below.

The DCA’s Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 2013-2017 guides how 
DCA welcomes people with disability, their carers, friends and families 
to its buildings, services and employment.

Outcome 1: People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to access the services of, and any events organised 
by the Department. 

A second MOU with the Disability Services Commission signed during 
the year will continue delivering strategic arts and disability initiatives 
for a further three years. Partnership initiatives in 2013-14 included 
the HERE&NOW13 exhibition at Lawrence Wilson Art Gallery which 
featured the work of 11 Western Australian artists with disabilities and 
supported an emerging curator to mentor the artists and curate the 
exhibition.

DCA also provided support for Ruah, in partnership with Healthway 
and Lotterywest, for Our Wellbeing Project, a series of regional tours 
offering community arts events at selected agricultural shows in WA to 
raise awareness of mental health and the benefits of arts activities and 
participation.
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Outcome 2: People with disabilities have the same 
opportunities as other people to access the buildings and other 
facilities of the Department. 

In line with amendments to the National Construction Code, updating 
of access auditing of all Department buildings is continuing. Access is 
the highest priority for maintenance work along with works that ensure 
the safety of the public, people and collections. 

Outcome 3: People with disabilities receive information from 
the Department in a format that will enable them to access the 
information as readily as other people are able to access it.

Publications, including the grants handbooks and grant application 
forms, follow the typeface, branding and layout guidelines contained 
in DCA’s style guide. This complies with the Disability Services 
Commission guidelines for making information accessible. 

A variety of alternative and accessible formats are available on request. 
A by-line stating their availability is included in a prominent position in 
all publications.

The DCA website is formatted to meet all requirements detailed by 
W3C Web Content Accessibility Guidelines. All documents available 
for download are tagged for accessibility and, where possible, are 
provided in an alternative plain text file format. All videos have 
transcripts attached.

Outcome 4: People with disabilities receive the same level and 
quality of service from the staff of the Department as other 
people. 

A presentation on disability access and inclusion, including customer 
service for people with disabilities, is included in the Culture and Arts 
Portfolio Induction Program for staff.

Outcome 5: People with disabilities have the same 
opportunities as other people to make complaints to the 
Department.

The DCA’s complaints process is easily accessible online. Feedback 
and complaints mechanisms are in place and are being reviewed to 
ensure they are being appropriately implemented. 

Outcome 6: People with disabilities have the same 
opportunities as other people to participate in any public 
consultation by the Department.

To support people with disabilities, their families and carers to attend 
external consultations and public gatherings, DCA provides event 
information in clear, concise language and in accessible formats. It 
also holds events in accessible venues and provides consultation 
information in alternative formats, on request. 

Outcome 7: People with disabilities have the same 
opportunities as other people to seek employment with the 
Department. 

Information and policy aimed at encouraging and facilitating the 
recruitment of people with disabilities has been incorporated within 
DCA’s Recruitment, Selection and Appointment Manual. All staff have 
access to the manual through the DCA intranet. 
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Compliance with Public Sector 
Standards and Ethical Codes
The DCA has worked with the Culture and Arts Portfolio to ensure 
compliance with Public Sector legislative and regulatory frameworks. 
Human Resources (HR) consistently reviews and updates workforce 
policies, procedures and guidelines to ensure they align with 
contemporary legislative and compliance frameworks. 

HR provides training to staff and managers on the Public Sector 
Standards in Human Resource Management, the Public Sector Code of 
Ethics, and the Culture and Arts Portfolio Code of Conduct, informing 
staff of the expectations outlined by DCA and the Public Sector 
Commission. 

DCA has implemented Accountable and Ethical Decision Making 
(AEDM) training in the Culture and Arts Portfolio. Within DCA and SRO 
98.5 per cent of new staff completed the AEDM training during this 
financial year. 

The AEDM training module has been updated to reflect internal, Public 
Sector Commission (PSC) and legislative employment changes. DCA 
regularly sends delegate employees to attend PSC training workshops. 

During the year, DCA delegates attended training in the Public Sector 
Standards in Human Resource management, breaches lodged against 
the Standards, Public Sector Inductions and Public Interest Disclosure 
Officer training. In addition to training by the PSC, DCA staff also 
attended training held by the Equal Opportunity Commission and the 
Corruption and Crime Commission.

DCA continues to track internal workforce measures including 
quarterly reporting. These statistics are used to track key trends within 
DCA as well as compliance with internal and external compliance 
requirements. These processes continued to be refined over the 
year. Feedback from Portfolio organisations indicates that the reports 
provide meaningful workforce statistics that assist them with strategic 
planning and decision-making.

Industrial and employee relations 
The DCA is committed to educating our workforce in Public Sector 
Standards in Human Resource Management and Code of Ethics. In 
2013-2014, there were no reported breaches of the Public Sector 
Standards within DCA. 

No potential breaches of the Code of Ethics or DCA’s Code of Conduct 
(derived from the Public Sector Code of Ethics) were received during 
the same period. 

HR continues to provide ongoing support and advice to managers and 
staff in industrial relation matters.

This information is for DCA and the SRO only. The Portfolio Agencies 
(Art Gallery of WA, ScreenWest, Perth Theatre Trust, WA Museum and 
State Library of WA) report their information in their respective annual 
reports.
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Recordkeeping Plan – Department of Culture and the Arts 
Department of Culture and the Arts’ 
Recordkeeping Plan

As required under the State Records Act 2000 (the Act), DCA’s 
Recordkeeping Plan was last reviewed and registered with SRO 
in 2010. The DCA continues to implement strategies to ensure 
that employees are aware of their compliance responsibilities 
established in the Act. 

The last major review of recordkeeping systems coincided 
with DCA’s move to Gordon Stephenson House in 2011. 
Recordkeeping staff monitor, review and update practices to 
maintain and increase the efficiency and effectiveness of DCA’s 
recordkeeping system as more staff use DCA’s electronic TRIM 
system.

The efficiency and effectiveness of the organisation’s 
recordkeeping system is scheduled to be evaluated next year.

Recordkeeping training program 
Regular recordkeeping training is provided to staff to raise 
awareness of recordkeeping responsibilities and to provide 
instruction in the use of TRIM.

All Department staff have access to TRIM.

All new staff are trained and refresher training is provided to 
existing staff. Training and support is also provided on a one-on-
one basis as required.

The recordkeeping training program is reviewed regularly and 
staff usage of TRIM is monitored to identify gaps in usage. 
Training material is regularly revised to address any updates in 
the system and to incorporate frequently asked questions.

The organisation’s induction program addresses employee 
roles and responsibilities in regard to their compliance with the 
organisation’s Recordkeeping Plan.
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State Records Office compliance with the 
State Records Act 2000

The State Records Office of WA’s Recordkeeping Plan was fully 
revised during 2013-14. Revision of the State Records Office’s 
Retention and Disposal Schedule is in progress. Full details are 
included in the SRO report, Strategic Priority 3.

Freedom of Information
Under Schedule 2 of the Regulations of the Freedom of Information Act 
1992 (the Act) DCA coordinates freedom of information requests for 
Portfolio organisations.

As prescribed in Section 96 of the Act, DCA publishes an up to date 
information page confirming the DCA’s commitment to the right of all 
Western Australians to have access to government information for 
whatever reason they wish. The information page is available on DCA’s 
website and gives details on how a person can apply for access to 
DCA’s documents.
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Government policy requirements
Substantive equality
The Substantive Equality Reference Group (SERG) continues to provide 
advice to the portfolio on substantive equality and targeting community 
based arts and culture needs. SERG was reformed during the year, 
engaging employees from across the Culture and Arts Portfolio. The 
group has formed a new Substantive Equality Policy to guide the 
portfolio towards a clear regulatory framework to support community 
based projects. 

SERG meets quarterly or as needed to discuss DCA’s current directions 
and the implications on the broader community.

Needs and Impact Assessments continue to help identify key areas to 
increase access to DCA services, improve links in the wider community 
and increase staff awareness of substantive equality and how it 
contributes to the services delivery and business activity of DCA, and 
Portfolio organisations.

DCA works within its own Substantive Equality Policy, engaging in 
stakeholder consultation in major Department projects. The DCA 
Substantive Equality Policy is available to all staff on the DCA intranet.

Occupational safety, health and injury management 
DCA is committed to providing and maintaining a healthy and safe 
working environment for all of its employees, contractors and visitors. 
The DCA demonstrates this through its policies, procedures and 
work practices to ensure that all employees are safe from harm 
in the workplace. The DCA’s executive leadership team approved 
the Occupational Safety and Health (OSH) Implementation Plan to 
implement a number of safety and health initiatives across both DCA 
and to assist Portfolio organisations. 

The DCA and Portfolio organisations facilitate OSH consultation through 
agency specific OSH committees, the election of safety and health 
representatives, hazard and incident reporting processes, routine 
workplace hazard inspections and a process for the resolution of OSH 
issues. Staff are made aware of these processes at their employee 
induction, through specific OSH training and access to OSH information 
on the DCA intranet. 

The policy and procedures of DCA and Portfolio organisations are 
compliant with the Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984 and the 
Workers Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981. These 
procedures outline DCA’s commitment to assist employees to return 
to work after a work-related injury or disease. DCA develops formal, 
documented return to work programs for employees requiring modified 
and alternative duties, or equipment upon returning to work from an 
injury or illness. 

A formal review of the DCA’s OSH management system was 
undertaken in 2012 using the WorkSafe Plan. From this a two-year 
plan has been developed to address gaps identified through this 
process and focuses on the audit recommendations in the areas of 
management commitment, planning, consultation, hazard management 
and training.
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OSH performance indicator table
Department of Culture and the Arts including State Records Office 

Measure Actual results Results against target

2012-2013 2013-2014 Target Comment on result

Number of Fatalities 0 0 0 No change

Lost time injury and/or disease 
incidence rate

0.76 0
0 or 10% 
improvement

Lost time injury and/or disease 
severity rate

100 0
0 or 10% 
improvement

Percentage of injured workers 
returned work:

i. within 13 weeks

100% N/A
Greater than or 
equal to 80%

ii. within 26 weeks 100% N/A
Greater than or 
equal to 80%

Percentage of managers trained in 
occupational safety, health and injury 
management responsibilities

77.5% 75%
Greater than or 
equal to 80%

Training planned for 
2014-15 includes OSH 
manager responsibilities 
and injury management
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Certification of Key Performance 
Indicators
Department of Culture and the Arts

For the year ended 30 June 2014
I hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the 
performance of the Department of Culture and the Arts, and fairly represent the performance of the Department for the financial year ended 30 June 
2014. At the date of signing I am not aware of any circumstances that would render the particulars included in the performance indicators misleading 
or inaccurate.

Duncan Ord

Accountable Authority 
5 September 2014
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Key Performance Indicators (KPI)
Introduction
The Department’s KPIs have been developed in accordance with 
Treasurer’s Instruction 904 to evaluate the portfolio’s performance 
in achieving the Government’s Desired Outcomes and provide an 
overview of the critical and material aspects of service provision. The 
KPIs measure performance at the whole of portfolio level. The KPIs for 
each of the Portfolio organisations support and contribute to the KPIs 
identified for the portfolio. The result is a consolidated picture of what 
the culture and arts portfolio is delivering and the impact it is having on 
the community of Western Australia.

Portfolio Services
Services provided by the culture and arts portfolio are listed in the 
2013-14 Budget Papers under Culture and the Arts. Funding for these 
services is provided by Parliament through a direct appropriation 
from Treasury to the Department and each statutory authority, with 
the exception of capital works funding which is allocated to the 
Department. The services listed are:

1. Arts Industry Support;

2. Screen Production Industry Support;

3. Venue Management Services;

4. Art Gallery Services;

5. Library and Information Services;

6. Museum Services; and

7. Government Record Keeping and Archival Services.

Notwithstanding the clustering of services under Culture and the 
Arts in the Budget Papers, the Department is directly responsible for 
producing services (1) and (7). The balance are the responsibility of 
ScreenWest Inc. (2), Perth Theatre Trust (3), Art Gallery of Western 
Australia (4), State Library of Western Australia (5), and the Western 
Australian Museum (6). 

The services reflect the total business of the portfolio. In accordance 
with their enabling legislation, each portfolio organisation separately 
prepares an annual report and reports on their performance with 
respect to the specific services they deliver.
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Government Goals
The Department of Culture and the Arts contributes to the achievement 
of the Government Goal:

 “Greater focus on achieving results in key service 
delivery areas for the benefit of all Western Australians”

Government Desired Outcomes
The Government’s Desired Outcomes for the portfolio are: 

 ▪ A creative, sustainable and accessible culture and arts sector; 
and

 ▪ Western Australia’s natural, cultural and documentary 
collections are preserved, accessible and sustainable.

Achievement of the portfolio’s Government Desired Outcomes will 
facilitate the achievement of a creative community that participates 
in and values culture and the arts as essential to the quality of life 
and well-being of all people throughout Western Australia. The KPIs 
describe the level of success of the services provided by the culture 
and arts portfolio in fulfilling the Outcomes. 

Market Research
To measure the “Sustainability” and “Accessibility” Key Effectiveness 
Indicators, the Department commissioned Patterson Research Group to 
conduct a telephone survey. A total of 400 interviews were completed 
from Monday the 7th April – 11th April 2014 with 300 interviews 
completed with respondents in the Perth metropolitan area and the 
remaining 100 completed with respondents from regional Western 
Australia. Respondents interviewed were aged 18 years or over and 
were randomly selected within each household. A sample of 400 
across Western Australia gives a theoretical survey error of ±4.9 per 
cent at the 95 per cent level of confidence.
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Government Desired Outcome 1
A creative, sustainable and accessible culture and arts sector.

Key effectiveness indicators
Creativity 2013/14 

Target
2013/14 
Actual

2012/13 
Actual

2011/12 
Actual

Proportion of funding 

applicants satisfied with 

the key elements of 

the “creative”1 funding 

programs.

76% 77% 64% 64%

Explanatory Notes – Creativity 
Creativity is one of the public value principles driving public value outcomes 
for the people of Western Australia from investment in arts and cultural 
activity. The ‘Creativity’ indicator is compiled biennially through the DCA 
Client Feedback Survey administered by Patterson Research Group. The 
survey gathers from responses from grant applicants (successful and 
unsuccessful), and key funded organisations. 

The indicator is a combined measure of the level of satisfaction with the 
creative process of the grants application process (grant applicants) and 
an assessment of the degree to which DCA meets the needs of the sector, 
government and the public (funded organisations). The responses for 2014 
show the level of satisfaction from grant applicants is relatively unchanged 
from previous years with an index score of 70 (68 in 2012 and 70 in 2010). 
The assessment by funded organisations of the degree to which DCA meets 
the needs of the sector, government and community, indicated a significant 
improvement between 2012 (index of 62) and 2014 (index of 70).

Sustainability 2013/14 
Target

2013/14 
Actual

2012/13 
Actual

2011/12 
Actual

Perceived value of culture 
and the arts (including the 
Screen Industry) to the Western 

Australian community. 

80% 76% 75% 81%

Proportion of triennially funded 
organisations within the culture 
and arts sector regarded as 
financially healthy.

20% 26% 25% 24%

Explanatory Notes – Sustainability
The first sustainability KPI provides an assessment of the extent to 
which the community values the role of culture and arts and the value of 
Western Australian Film and Television to the community. This indicator 
was measured by the Flashpoll Omnibus community survey instrument 
administered by Patterson Research Group. 

The sustainability indicator is the combined response for the value of both 
the arts and culture and the film and television, with the value of arts and 
culture to the community recording an index score of 78 and the value of 
film and television recording an index score of 74. The combined total  
shows an index score of 76 indicating a high level of value for the arts  
in the community.

1 Creativity “depends on the cultural values, preferences, and realities of residents and other stakeholders in a given community”  
(Arts, culture, creativity and communities: a framework for measurement: The Urban Institute 2002).
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The second sustainability KPI, which is also utilised by the Australia Council 
for the Arts, provides an indication of the financial health and sustainability 
of the triennially funded culture and arts organisations. The assessment is 
based upon the percentage of triennially funded organisations that meet all 
of the following indicators: 

 ▪ Reserves greater than 20 per cent of turnover;

 ▪ Working Capital greater than 2.0 (asset/liability ratio); and 

 ▪ Cash reserves of greater than 10 weeks’ worth of expenditure.

The proportion of triennially funded organisations within the culture and 
arts sector regarded as financially healthy in 2013-14 is 26 per cent. Each 
year a record is kept of the financial health of 23 organisations which 
are funded by the Department on a triennial contract basis. This year six 
organisations met the criteria for financial health. One organisation closed 
during 2012-13.

Accessibility 2013/14 
Target

2013/14 
Actual

2012/13 
Actual

2011/12 
Actual

Proportion of Western 
Australians that perceive 
culture and arts sector 
(including the Screen Industry) 
events to be accessible. 

64% 58% 61% 60%

Explanatory Notes – Accessibility
The accessibility KPI provides an assessment of the extent to which the 
West Australian community perceives the culture and arts sector events 
to be accessible. This indicator was measured by the Flashpoll Omnibus 
community survey instrument administered by Patterson Research Group. 
The overall index score of 58 is combined score for the culture and arts 
sector 68 and the screen industry 48. The accessibility index score for the 
arts activities received its highest score since the inclusion of this question 
in the survey.

The Survey indicated that 47 per cent of respondents find arts and cultural 
activities ‘easy’ for to attend or participate in and 21 per cent do not and 
30 per cent responded as neutral. The proportion of respondents who 
perceive access to be ‘easy’ increased significantly from 38 per cent last 
year while the proportion who perceived access to be ‘not easy’ remained 
steady. The response indicated the perceived accessibility of arts and 
culture in Western Australia is more positive than in the previous year. 

The proportion of respondents who indicated that it is ‘not easy’ to view 
Western Australian produced film and TV events or productions has 
increased significantly from 37 per cent in 2013 to 51 per cent in the 
current survey. The proportion of respondents who considered access to 
Western Australian produced film and TV events to be ‘not easy’ was 17 
per cent, a significant drop from 28 per cent in the previous year. 

In 2014 the index score for how accessible Western Australian TV events 
and film productions is calculated to be 48 per cent, which is a drop from 
58 per cent in the previous year. One explanation for the decrease is that 
in 2014, no high profile Western Australian feature film was released in 
cinemas. 
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Key effectiveness indicators
Key Efficiency Indicators 2013/14 

Target
2013/14 
Actual

2012/13 
Actual

2011/12 
Actual

Service 1

Arts Industry 
Support

Average cost per 
grant application
processed.

$779 $1,079 $1,325 $1,102

Service 2

Screen 
Production 
Industry Support

Average cost per 
grant application 
processed. 

$4,947 $4,789 $3,441 $2,854

Service 3

Venue 
Management 
Services

Average cost per 
performance.

$32,628 $27,462 $27,800 $27,779

Explanatory Notes – Key Efficiency Indicator
The Outcome 1 Key Efficiency Indicators relate the level of resource input 
to the services provided. Measurement of these indicators excludes the 
funding allocation that is provided to Arts Industry Support and Screen 
Production Industries.

The increase in the average cost per grant application for Arts Industry 
Support is mainly due to an inflated grants budget amount allocated to 
the target calculation. 

The average cost per grant application for Screen Production Industry 
Support is lower than the target as ScreenWest received more 
applications during the year than originally estimated (577 versus 550).

The reduction in the average cost of performances for Venue 
Management Services relates to an increased number of performances 
through more hiring’s and more catering functions that originally 
budgeted. There has also been a return to more national, commercial 
touring of performing arts product.
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Government Desired Outcome 2
Western Australia’s natural, cultural and documentary collections are preserved, accessible and sustainable.

Key effectiveness indicators
Preservation 2013/14 

Target
2013/14 
Actual

2012/13 
Actual

2011/12 
Actual

Extent to which Western 

Australia’s natural, 

cultural and documentary 

collections, that require 

preservation, are 

preserved.

83% 75% 80% 82%

Explanatory Notes – Preservation
The preservation KPI provides an assessment of the extent to 
which the State’s art, museum, heritage and archives collections 
are preserved. Preservation of the entire collection is not required, 
therefore this measure only relates to that part of the collection that 
is determined by the Portfolio organisations as requiring preservation. 
The indicator measures the extent to which the portfolio’s collection 
preservation outcomes have been met.

Preservation targets are lower than expected due to maintenance to 
the external building fabric and construction of a new Rare Materials 
storage at the State Library and environmental conditions for the 
State archives collection storage areas have experienced significant 
instability throughout 2013-14.

Accessibility 2013/14 
Target

2013/14 
Actual

2012/13 
Actual

2011/12 
Actual

The number of accesses to 
Western Australia’s natural, 
cultural and documentary 
collections per capita2.

Accesses 
Per Capita

2.203

Accesses 
Per Capita

2.260

Accesses 
Per Capita

2.253

Accesses 
Per Capita

1.975
Percentage of clients 
satisfied with the services 
associated with accessing 
Western Australia’s 
natural, cultural and 
documentary collections.

94% 95% 96% 94%

Number of Accesses: 5,400,460 5.764,639 5,570,689 4,714,335

Explanatory Notes – Accessibility Per Capita
The accessibility KPIs provide the number of accesses and the 
number of accesses per capita to the State’s art, museum, heritage 
and archives collections and the level of satisfaction associated with 
the various aspects of service delivery associated with accessing the 
State’s collections. The number of accesses is based on Museum, 
Art Gallery, State Library and State Records Office visitor attendance 
figures, and accesses via Internet User Sessions, etc. Accesses for the 
State Library include the number of material exchanges between the 
State Library and Local Government public libraries. 

2 Population (Per Capita) based on ABS Data table 3101.0 (WA): 2011/12 = 2,387,200; 2012/13 = 2,472,700; 2013/14 target (Budget Papers) = 2,451,400 and 2013/14 = 2,550,900.
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Access targets for the Art Gallery have decreased primarily due to the 
impact of the cancellation of the Museum of Modern Art exhibition 
series on both online accesses and visitation.

The State Library has had a decrease of 9.7% in walk in visitors and 
a 10% decrease in visitors to the State Library website leading to a 
decrease in visitor numbers.

Access targets for the Museum were significantly exceeded which is 
attributed to a higher than expected number of visits to the Museum’s 
website, driven by the online ticketing service for paid exhibitions and 
programs.

The target by the State Records Office was exceeded from higher 
statistics attributable to digital copying facilities in the State Records 
Office Search Room.

Sustainability3 2013/14 
Target

2013/14 
Actual

2012/13 
Actual

2011/12 
Actual

Value of collection renewal, 
content development, 
expansion and/or 
maintaining the physical 
integrity of the collection as 
a proportion of collection 
value.

6% 8% 7% 6%

Explanatory Notes – Sustainability
The sustainability KPI provides an assessment of the portfolio’s 
capacity to annually renew a portion of the collection, develop 
content, expand and/or maintain the physical integrity of the State’s 
art, museum and heritage collections. Collection renewal, content 
development, expansion and/or maintaining the physical integrity are 
essential to the sustainability of the collections.

3 The SRO collection has not been valued and therefore is not included in this KPI.
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Key effectiveness indicators
Key Efficiency Indicators 2013/14 

Target
2013/14 
Actual

2012/13 
Actual

2011/12 
Actual

Service 4
Art Gallery Services

Average cost of Art Gallery services per Art Gallery access.
$27 $25 $23 $36

Service 5

Library and Information Services

Average cost of State Library services per State Library access/client interaction.
$14 $18 $16 $16

Average cost of State Library services per new public library collection item. $69 $56 $60 $80

Service 6
Museum Services

Average cost of Museum services per Museum access.
$31 $37 $40 $41

Service 7

Government Recordkeeping and Archival Services

Average cost of State Records Office (SRO) services per access to the State archives collection.
$12 $10 $15 $16

Average cost of SRO services per regulatory service. $392 $459 $629 $417

Explanatory Notes – Key Efficiency Indicator

The Outcome 2 Key Efficiency Indicators relate the level of resource input 
to the services provided.

Art Gallery’s average cost is higher than budgeted as the number of 
interactions was lower than expected.

State Library’s average cost of delivering new public library collection 
items is lower than target with the number of new public library items 
supplied higher than expected. The average cost per access is higher than 
anticipated resulting from the due to the number of accesses lower than 
expected.

The average cost of Museum services is higher than target due to a higher 
total cost of services than was expected. 

The average cost of accesses provided by the SRO is lower than estimated 
due to an increase in the number of accesses. The number of regulatory 
accesses has increased from the previous year; however the cost of 
delivering these services was above the expected target.
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Section 6 

Financial statements
Auditor General’s opinion

Auditor General
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Parliament of Western Australia

DEPARTMENT OF CULTURE AND THE ARTS

Report on the Financial Statements 
I have audited the accounts and financial statements of the Department of Culture and the Arts.

The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2014, the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement 
of Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows, Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service, Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service, and 
Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates for the year then ended, and Notes comprising a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other 
explanatory information.

Director General’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
The Director General is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and for such internal control as the Director General determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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Auditor’s Responsibility 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on my audit. The audit was 
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those Standards require compliance with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit 
engagements and that the audit be planned and performed to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Department’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Director General, as well 
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Opinion 
In my opinion, the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
Department of Culture and the Arts at 30 June 2014 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended. They are in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions.

Report on Controls 
I have audited the controls exercised by the Department of Culture and the Arts during the year ended 30 June 2014.

Controls exercised by the Department of Culture and the Arts are those policies and procedures established by the Director General to ensure that the 
receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with 
legislative provisions.

Director General’s Responsibility for Controls 
The Director General is responsible for maintaining an adequate system of internal control to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment of 
money, the acquisition and disposal of public and other property, and the incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the Financial Management Act 
2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and other relevant written law.
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Auditor’s Responsibility 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the controls exercised by the Department of Culture and the 
Arts based on my audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of controls to ensure that the Department complies with the 
legislative provisions. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement and include an evaluation of the design and implementation of 
relevant controls.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Opinion 
In my opinion, the controls exercised by the Department of Culture and the Arts are sufficiently adequate to provide reasonable assurance that the 
receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with 
legislative provisions during the year ended 30 June 2014.

Report on the Key Performance Indicators 
I have audited the key performance indicators of the Department of Culture and the Arts for the year ended 30 June 2014.

The key performance indicators are the key effectiveness indicators and the key efficiency indicators that provide information on outcome 
achievement and service provision.

Director General’s Responsibility for the Key Performance Indicators 
The Director General is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key performance indicators in accordance with the Financial 
Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions and for such controls as the Director General determines necessary to ensure that the key 
performance indicators fairly represent indicated performance.
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Auditor’s Responsibility 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the key performance indicators based on my audit 
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the key performance indicators. The procedures selected depend on 
the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the key performance indicators. In making these risk 
assessments the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Director General’s preparation and fair presentation of the key performance 
indicators in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the relevance and 
appropriateness of the key performance indicators for measuring the extent of outcome achievement and service provision.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Opinion 
In my opinion, the key performance indicators of the Department of Culture and the Arts are relevant and appropriate to assist users to assess the 
Department’s performance and fairly represent indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2014.

Independence 
In conducting this audit, I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor General Act 2006 and Australian Auditing and Assurance 
Standards, and other relevant ethical requirements.

Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the Audited Financial Statements and Key Performance Indicators 
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements and key performance indicators of the Department of Culture and the Arts for the year ended 
30 June 2014 included on the Department’s website. The Department’s management is responsible for the integrity of the Department’s website. 
This audit does not provide assurance on the integrity of the Department’s website. The auditor’s report refers only to the financial statements 
and key performance indicators described above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/
from these financial statements or key performance indicators. If users of the financial statements and key performance indicators are concerned 
with the inherent risks arising from publication on a website, they are advised to refer to the hard copy of the audited financial statements and key 
performance indicators to confirm the information contained in this website version of the financial statements and key performance indicators.

COLIN MURPHY 
AUDITOR GENERAL 
FOR WESTERN AUSTRALIA 
Perth, Western Australia 
8 September 2014
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the key performance 
indicators. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the key performance indicators. In making 
these risk assessments the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Director General’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the key performance indicators in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the 
relevance and appropriateness of the key performance indicators for measuring the extent of 
outcome achievement and service provision. 
 
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
In my opinion, the key performance indicators of the Department of Culture and the Arts are 
relevant and appropriate to assist users to assess the Department’s performance and fairly 
represent indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2014. 
 
Independence 
In conducting this audit, I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor 
General Act 2006 and Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards, and other relevant ethical 
requirements.  
 
Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the Audited Financial Statements and 
Key Performance Indicators 
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements and key performance indicators of the 
Department of Culture and the Arts for the year ended 30 June 2014 included on the 
Department’s website. The Department’s management is responsible for the integrity of the 
Department’s website. This audit does not provide assurance on the integrity of the 
Department’s website. The auditor’s report refers only to the financial statements and key 
performance indicators described above. It does not provide an opinion on any other 
information which may have been hyperlinked to/from these financial statements or key 
performance indicators. If users of the financial statements and key performance indicators are 
concerned with the inherent risks arising from publication on a website, they are advised to 
refer to the hard copy of the audited financial statements and key performance indicators to 
confirm the information contained in this website version of the financial statements and key 
performance indicators. 
 

 
COLIN MURPHY 
AUDITOR GENERAL  
FOR WESTERN AUSTRALIA 
Perth, Western Australia 
8 September 2014 
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Certification of financial 
statements
For the year ended 30 June 2014
The accompanying financial statements of the Department of Culture and the Arts have been prepared in compliance with the provisions of the 
Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year ended 30 June 
2014 and the financial position as at 30 June 2014.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars included in the financial statements misleading or 
inaccurate.

Duncan Ord 
Director General 
5 September 2014

Satvinder Sekhon FCMA, FCPA (K), CGMA 
A/Director and Chief Financial Officer 
5 September 2014
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Financial 
statements

Depreciation and  
amortisation expense

Accommodation 
expenses

3%
25%

10%
2%5%

Other expenses
Employee benefits 
          expense

Supplies 
 and services

Cost of services

55%

Grants and 
subsidies

80 
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Statement of Changes in Equity
As at 30 June 2014

Notes Contributed  
Equity 
$000

Reserves 
 

 $000

Accumulated 
surplus/(deficit) 

$000

Total Equity  
 

$000
Balance at 1 July 2012 9,491 41,881 (4,166) 47,206

Surplus/(deficit) 30 (1,011) (1,011)

Other comprehensive income 72 72

Total comprehensive income for the period 0 72 (1,011) (939)

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Capital appropriations 2,039 2,039

Total 2,039 0 0 2,039

Balance at 30 June 2013 30 11,530 41,953 (5,177) 48,306

Balance at 1 July 2013 11,530 41,953 (5,177) 48,306

Surplus/(deficit) 4,266 4,266

Other comprehensive income 30 1,077 1,077

Total comprehensive income for the period 0 1,077 4,266 5,343

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:  

Capital appropriations 8,226 8,226

Total 8,226 0 0 8,226

Balance at 30 June 2014 30 19,756 43,030 (911) 61,875

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Schedule of income and expenses by service
For the year ended 30 June 2014

Arts Industry Support Record Keeping and 
Archival Services

Services provided to 
external agencies

Total

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Cost of services
Expenses

Employee benefits expense  5,197  4,842  2,241  2,250  6,901  42,191  14,339  49,283 

Supplies and services  2,115  2,706  246  441  3,348  5,914  5,709  9,061 

Depreciation and amortisation expense  176  181  84  84  962  908  1,222  1,173 

Accommodation expenses  410  200  138  40  2,241  2,482  2,789  2,722 

Grants and subsidies  27,378  23,279  166  144  4,540  3,813  32,084  27,236 

Cost of sales  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Loss on disposal of non-current assets  -  4  -  2  -  (6)  -  - 

Other expenses  289  1,024  62  6  1,552  334  1,903  1,364 
Total cost of services  35,565  32,236  2,937  2,967  19,544  55,636  58,046  90,839 

Income
User charges and fees  24  2  140  54  129  15  293  71 

Sales  -  -  0  5  (0)  (3)  -  2 

Commonwealth grants and contributions  389  360  -  -  0  -  389  360 

Other revenue  109  159  22  26  579  820  710  1,005 

Gain on disposal of non-current assets  -  0  -  0  -  (0)  -  - 

Total income other than income from State Government  522  521  162  85  708  832  1,392  1,438 

Net cost of services  35,043  31,715  2,775  2,881  18,836  54,804  56,654  89,401 

Income from State Government
Service Appropriation  32,431  29,139  2,837  1,702  18,112  56,652  53,380  87,493 

Royalties for Regions Fund  -  125  -  -  -  50  -  175 

Grants and subsidies from State Government  250  -  -  -  -  250  250  250 

Assets / Liabilities Assumed (Transferred)  995  0  199  0  5,437  2  6,631  2 

Services received free of charge  99  71  19  14  541  385  659  470 

Total income from State Government  33,775  29,335  3,055  1,716  24,090  57,339  60,920  88,390 

Surplus/(deficit) for the period  (1,268)  (2,380)  280  (1,165)  5,255  2,535  4,266  (1,011)
The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service
As at 30 June 2014

Arts Industry Support Record Keeping and 
Archival Services

Services provided to 
external agencies

Total

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Assets
Current Assets  3,213  3,360  619  992  16,907  18,323  20,739  22,675 

Non-Current Assets  9,501  8,801  4,559  4,399  51,011  47,408  65,071  60,608 

Total assets  12,714  12,161  5,178  5,391  67,918  65,731  85,810  83,283 

Liabilities

Current Liabilities  3,439  4,791  690  908  18,730  24,783  22,859  30,482 

Non-Current Liabilities  162  674  32  135  883  3,687  1,077  4,496 

Total Liabilities  3,601  5,465  722  1,043  19,613  28,470  23,936  34,978 

NET ASSETS  9,113  6,696  4,456  4,348  48,305  37,261  61,874  48,305 
 
The Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates
For the year ended 30 June 2014

2014
Estimate

$’000

2014
Actual
$’000

Variance
 

$’000

2014
Actual
$’000

2013
Actual
$’000

Variance
$’000

Delivery of services  
Item 62 Net amount appropriated to deliver services 36,906 38,319 1,413 38,319 71,561 (33,242)
Amount Authorised by Other Statutes:
 - Lotteries Commission Act 1990 14,783 14,800 17 14,800 15,000 (200)
 - Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 959 261 (698) 261 932 (671)

Total appropriations provided to deliver services 52,648 53,380 732 53,380 87,493 (34,113)
           

Capital            
Item 150 Capital appropriations 9,526 8,226 (1,300) 8,226 2,039 6,187

9,526 8,226 (1,300) 8,226 2,039 6,187
           

Grand total 62,174 61,606 (568) 61,606 89,532 (27,926)
           

Details of Expenses by Service            
Arts Industry Support 31,598 35,565 3,967 35,565 32,236 3,329
Recordkeeping and Archival Services 2,352 2,937 585 2,937 2,967 (30)
Services provided to external agencies 18,698 19,544 846 19,544 55,636 (36,092)
Total Cost of Services 52,648 58,046 5,398 58,046 90,839 (32,793)
Less total income (537) (1,392) (855) (1,392) (1,438) 46
Net Cost of Services 52,111 56,654 4,543 56,654 89,401 (32,747)
Adjustments 537 (3,274) (3,811) (3,274) (1,909) (1,365)

Total appropriations provided to deliver services 52,648 53,380 732 53,380 87,492 (34,112)
           

Capital Expenditure            
Purchase of non-current physical assets 9,526 8,226 (1,300) 8,226 2,039 6,187

Capital Contribution (appropriation) 9,526 8,226 (1,300) 8,226 2,039 6,187

Other external agencies comprise the Art Gallery of Western Australia, State Library of Western Australia, Western Australian Museum and Perth Theatre Trust whose funding is provided direct appropriation as a 
result of Machinery of Government Change from 1 July 2013. 
Note 36 ‘Explanatory statement’ provides details of any significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2014 and between the actual results for 2014 and 2013.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2014

Note 1. Australian Accounting Standards
General
The Department’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2014 
have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. 
The term ‘Australian Accounting Standards’ includes Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standard Board (AASB).

The Department has adopted any applicable, new and revised Australian 
Accounting Standards from their operative dates.

Early adoption of standards
The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard 
unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of Australian 
Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements. There has been no 
early adoption of Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued 
or amended (but not operative) by the Department for the annual reporting 
period ended 30 June 2014.

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(a) General statement
The Department is a not-for-profit reporting entity that prepares general 
purpose financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other 
authoritative pronouncements of the AASB as applied by the Treasurer’s 
instructions. Several of these are modified by the Treasurer’s instructions to 
vary application, disclosure, format and wording.

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s instructions 
impose legislative provisions that govern the preparation of financial 
statements and take precedence over Australian Accounting Standards, 
the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the AASB.

Where modification is required and has had a material or significant 
financial effect upon the reported results, details of that modification and 
the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial 
statements

(b) Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of 
accounting using the historical cost convention, except for land, buildings 
and infrastructure which have been measured at fair value.

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial 
statements have been consistently applied throughout all periods 
presented unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values 
are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000).

Note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’ 
discloses judgements that have been made in the process of applying the 
Department’s accounting policies resulting in the most significant effect on 
amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key assumptions 
made concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk 
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year.
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(c) Reporting entity
The reporting entity comprises the Department of Culture and the Arts. 
The Department has no related bodies.

Mission 
The Department’s mission is to provide leadership, support and services 
to ensure that Western Australians have easy and affordable access to a 
diverse range of innovative ideas, knowledge and cultural experiences.

The Department is predominantly funded by Parliamentary 
appropriations. The Department is supplemented by fees received for 
the provision of services that are charged out on a full cost recovery 
basis. The fees charged are determined by prevailing market forces. The 
financial statements encompass all funds through which the Department 
controls resources to carry on its functions.

Services 
The Department provides the following services:

Service 1: Arts Industry Support

To provide an integrated and unifying means of delivering policy 
and programs that will assist in the development of creative people, 
communities, economies and environments for the public of 
Western Australia.

Service 2: Recordkeeping and Archival Services

Service 3: Services to external agencies

Ensures that corporate services are delivered to agencies within the 
Culture and Arts portfolio.

(d) Contributed equity
AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-
Owned Public Sector Entities requires transfers in the nature of equity 
contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative 
arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the owner) as 
contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before 
such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital 
appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners by 
TI 955 Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector 
Entities and have been credited directly to Contributed equity.

The transfer of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result 
of a restructure of administrative arrangements, are designated as 
contributions by owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and 
non-reciprocal. Refer also to note 30 “Equity’.

(e) Income
Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration 
received or receivable. Revenue is recognised for the major business 
activities as follows:

Sale of goods 
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other 
assets when the significant risks and rewards of ownership transfer 
to the purchaser and can be measured reliably.

Provision of services 
Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of 
the transaction.

Interest 
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.
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Service Appropriations 
Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value 
in the period in which the Department gains control of the 
appropriated funds. The Department gains control of appropriated 
funds at the time those funds are deposited to the bank account or 
credited to the ‘Amounts receivable for services’ (holding account) 
held at Treasury.

Net Appropriation Determination

The Treasurer may make a determination providing for prescribed 
receipts to be retained for services under the control of the 
Department. In accordance with the determination specified in the 
2013-2014 Budget Statements, the Department retained $1.41 
million in 2014 ($1.44 million in 2013) from the following:

 ▪ proceeds from fees and charges;

 ▪ Commonwealth specific purpose grants and contributions; and

 ▪ other departmental revenue.

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal 
contributions

Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Department obtains 
control over the assets comprising the contributions, usually when 
cash is received.

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by 
owners are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of services 
are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined 
and the services would be purchased if not donated.

Royalties for Regions funds are recognised as revenue at fair value 
in the period in which the Department obtains control over the 
funds. The Department obtains control of the funds at the time the 
funds are deposited into the Department’s bank account.

Gains

Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis. 
These include gains arising on the disposal of non-current assets 
and some revaluations of non-current assets.

(f) Property, plant and equipment
Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Items of property, plant and equipment and infrustructure costing 
$5,000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost of utilising assets 
is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives. Items of property, 
plant and equipment and infrustructure costing less than $5,000 are 
immediately expensed direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
(other than where they form part of a group of similar items which are 
significant in total).

Initial recognition and measurement
Property, plant and equipment and infrustructure are initially recognised 
at cost.

For items of property, plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for 
nominal cost, the cost is the fair value at the date of acquisition.

Subsequent Measurement

Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is 
used the for the measurement of land and buildings and infrustructure 
and historical cost for all other property, plant and equipment. Land 
and buildings are carried at fair value less accumulated depreciation 
(buildings and infrustructure only) and accumulated impairment losses. 
All other items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical 
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
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Where market based evidence is available, the fair value of land 
and buildings is determined on the basis of current market values 
determined by reference to recent market transactions. When 
buildings are revalued by reference to recent market transactions, 
the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying 
amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued 
amount.

In the absence of market-based evidence, fair value of land and 
buildings is determined on the basis of existing use. This normally 
applies where buildings are specialised or where land use is restricted. 
Fair value for existing use buildings is determined by reference to the 
cost of replacing the remaining future economic benefits embodied in 
the asset, ie. the depreciated replacement cost. Where the fair value of 
buildings is determined on the depreciated replacement cost basis, the 
gross carrying amount and the accumulated depreciation are restated 
proportionately. Fair value for restricted use land is determined by 
comparison with market evidence for land with similar approximate 
utility (high restricted use land) or market value of comparable 
unrestricted land (low restricted use land).

Land and buildings are independently valued annually by the Western 
Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services) and 
recognised annually to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ 
materially from the asset’s fair value at the end of the reporting period. 

Refer also to note 23 ‘Property, plant and equipment’ for further 
information on revaluations.

The most significant assumptions and judgements in estimating fair 
value are made in assessing whether whether to apply the existing 
use basis to assets and in determining estimated economic life. 
Professional judgement by the valuer is required where the evidence 
does not provide a clear distinction between market type assets and 
existing use assets.

Derecognition
Upon disposal or derecognition of an item or property, plant and 
equipment, any revaluation surplus relating to that asset is retained in 
the asset revaluation surplus.

Asset revaluation surplus
The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and 
decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets as described in 
note 23 ‘Property, plant and equipment’.

Depreciation

All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically 
depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects 
the consumption of their future economic benefits.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, using rates 
which are reviewed annually. Estimated useful lives for each class of 
depreciable asset are:

Buildings 40 years
Leasehold improvements 40 years
Plant and equipment 5 to 10 years
Computer hardware and software (a) 4 years
Furniture and fittings 10 years
Collections 0 to 100 years

(a) Software that is integral to the operation of related hardware.

Works of art controlled by the Department are classified as property, 
plant and equipment. These are anticipated to have indefinite useful 
lives. Their service potential has not, in any material sense, been 
consumed during the reporting period and so no depreciation has been 
recognised.

Land is not depreciated.
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g) Intangible assets
Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally 
generated intangible assets costing $50,000 or more are capitalised. 
The cost of utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) over their 
useful life. Costs incurred below these thresholds are immediately 
expensed directly to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired 
at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of 
acquisition.

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the 
asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated 
for the period of the expected benefit (estimated useful life which 
is reviewed annually) on the straight line basis. All intangible assets 
controlled by the Department have a finite useful life and zero residual 
value.

The expected useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:

Licences up to 10 years
Development Costs 3 to 5 years
Software (a) 3 to 5 years
Website costs 3 to 5 years

(a) Software that is not integral to the operation of related hardware.

Licences
Licences have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Development costs
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development costs incurred 
for an individual project are carried forward when the future economic 
benefits can reasonably be regarded as assured and the total project 
costs are likely to exceed $50,000. Other development costs are 
expensed as incurred.

Computer Software
Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is recognised 
as property, plant and equipment. Software that is not an integral part 
of the related hardware is recognised as an intangible asset. Software 
costing less than $5,000 is expensed in the year of acquisition.

Website costs
Website costs are charged as expenses when they are incurred 
unless they relate to the acquisition or development of an asset when 
they may be capitalised and amortised. Generally, costs in relation to 
feasibility studies during the planning phase of a website, and ongoing 
costs of maintenance during the operating phase are expensed. 
Costs incurred in building or enhancing a website that can be reliably 
measured, are capitalised to the extent that they represent probable 
future economic benefits.

(h) Impairment of assets
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are tested for 
any indication of impairment at the end of each reporting period. 
Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount 
is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying 
amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to 
the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised. 
Where an asset measured at cost is written down to recoverable 
amount, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. 
Where a previously revalued asset is written down to recoverable 
amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation decrement in other 
comprehensive income. As the Department is a not-for-profit entity, 
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unless a specialised asset has been identified as a surplus asset, the 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to 
sell and depreciated replacement cost.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an 
asset’s depreciation is materially understated, where the replacement 
cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life. 
Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that 
the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of 
consumption or expiration of the asset’s future economic benefits and 
to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets 
not yet available for use are tested for impairment at the end of each 
reporting period irrespective of whether there is any indication of 
impairment.

The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the 
higher of fair value less costs to sell and the present value of future 
cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets 
carried at fair value have no risk of material impairment where fair 
value is determined by reference to market-based evidence. Where 
fair value is determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost, 
surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the recoverable amount 
is measured. Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications of 
impairment at the end of each reporting period.

(i) Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified 
as held for sale

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale are recognised at 
the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell, and are 
disclosed separately from other assets in the Statement of Financial 
Position. Assets classified as held for sale are not depreciated or 
amortised.

(j) Leases
Finance lease rights and obligations are initially recognised, at the 
commencement of the lease term, as assets and liabilities equal in 
amount to the fair value of the leased item or, if lower, the present 
value of the minimum lease payments, determined at the inception of 
the lease. The assets are disclosed as plant, equipment and vehicles 
under lease, and are depreciated over the period during which the 
Department is expected to benefit from their use. Minimum lease 
payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the 
reduction of the outstanding lease liability, according to the interest 
rate implicit in the lease.

Operating leases are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease 
term as this represents the pattern of benefits derived from the leased 
properties.

(k) Financial instruments
In addition to cash, the Department has two categories of financial 
instrument:

 ▪ Loans and receivables; and

 ▪ Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following 
classes:

 ▪ Financial Assets

 ▪ Cash and cash equivalents

 ▪ Restricted cash and cash equivalents

 ▪ Receivables 

 ▪ Amounts Receivable for Services

 ▪ Financial Liabilities

 ▪ Payable
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Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair 
value which normally equates to the transaction cost or the face value. 
Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction 
cost or the face value because there is no interest rate applicable and 
subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of discounting 
is not material.

(l) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash 
equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets comprise 
cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three 
months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash 
and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.

(m) Accrued salaries
Accrued salaries (see note 27 ‘Payables’) represent the amount due 
to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial year. Accrued salaries 
are settled within a fortnight of the financial year end. The Department 
considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to 
its fair value.

The accrued salaries suspense account (refer to note 19 ‘Restricted 
cash and cash equivalents’) consists of amounts paid annually into a 
suspense account over a period of 10 financial years to largely meet 
the additional cash outflow in each eleventh year when 27 pay days 
occur instead of the normal 26. No interest is received on this account.

(n) Amounts receivable for services (holding account)
The Department receives funding on an accrual basis. The 
appropriations are paid partly in cash and partly as an asset (holding 
account receivable). The holding account receivable balance, resulting 
from service appropriation funding, is accessible on the emergence of 

the cash funding requirement to cover leave entitlements and asset 
replacement.

Refer to note 18 ‘Income from State Government’ and note 21 
’Amounts receivable for services’.

(o) Receivables
Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount 
less an allowance for uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment). The 
collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any 
receivables identified as uncollectible are written-off against the 
allowance account. The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful 
debts) is raised when there is objective evidence that the Department 
will not be able to collect the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent 
to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days.

(p) Payables
Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Department 
becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase of 
assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as 
settlement is generally within 30 days.

(q) Provisions
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing and amount and are 
recognised where there is a present legal or constructive obligation as 
a result of a past event and when the outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be made 
of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at the end of 
each reporting period.

Provisions - Employee Benefits

All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of 
employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period.
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Annual leave

The liability for annual leave that is expected to be settled within 
12 months after the end of the reporting period is recognised and 
measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the 
liability is settled.

Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months 
after the reporting period and is therefore considered to be ‘other long-
term employee benefits’. The annual leave liability is recognised and 
measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when 
the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply 
at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given 
to expected future wage and salary levels including non-salary 
components such as employer superannuation contributions, as well 
as the experience of employee departures and periods of service. The 
expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the 
end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms 
to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future 
cash outflows.

The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the 
Department does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of 
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

Long Service Leave

Long service leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 
months after the end of the reporting period is recognised and 
measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when 
the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply 
at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given 
to expected future wage and salary levels including non-salary 

components such as employer superannuation contributions, as well 
as the experience of employee departures and periods of service. The 
expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the 
end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms 
to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future 
cash outflows.

Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current 
liabilities as the Department does not have an unconditional right to 
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end 
of the reporting period. Pre-conditional and conditional long service 
leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because the 
Department has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the 
liability until the employee has completed the requisite years of service.

A liability for long service leave is recognised after an employee has 
completed four years of service based on remuneration rates current 
as at the end of the reporting period.

An actuarial assessment of long service leave undertaken by 
PriceWaterHouseCoopers Actuaries at 30 June 2014 determined that 
the liability measured using the short-hand measurement technique 
above was not materially different from the liability determined using 
the present value of expected future payments. This calculation is 
consistent with the Department’s experience of employee retention and 
leave taken.

Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current 
liabilities as the Department does not have an unconditional right to 
defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end 
of the reporting period. Pre-conditional and conditional long service 
leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because the 
Department has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the 
liability until the employee has completed the requisite years of service.
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Superannuation

The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) and 
other fund providers administer public sector superannuation 
arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with legislative 
requirements. Eligibility criteria for membership in particular 
schemes for public sector employees varies according to 
commencement and implementation dates.

Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined 
benefit pension scheme closed to new members since 1987, or 
the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit 
lump sum scheme closed to new members since 1995.

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 
who were not members of either the Pension Scheme or the 
GSS became non-contributory members of the West State 
Superannuation Scheme (WSS). Employees commencing 
employment on or after 16 April 2007 became members of the 
GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). From 30 March 2012, existing 
members of the WSS or GESBS and new employees became 
able to choose their preferred superannuation fund provider. The 
Department makes contributions to GESB or other fund provider 
on behalf of employees in compliance with the Commonwealth 
Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 
1992. Contributions to these accumulated schemes extinguish 
the Department’s liability for superannuation charges in respect of 
employees who are not members of the Pension Scheme or GSS.

The GSS, the WSS, and the GESBS, where the current service 
superannuation charge is paid by the Department to the GESB, 
are defined contribution schemes. The liabilities for current 
service superannuation charges under the GSS, the WSS, and the 
GESBS are extinguished by the concurrent payment of employer 
contributions to the GESB.

The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of 
employees and whole-of-government reporting. However, it is 
a defined contribution plan for Department purposes because 
the concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made by the 
Department to GESB extinguishes the Department’s obligations to 
the related superannuation liability.

The Department has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme 
or the GSS. The liabilities for the unfunded Pension Scheme 
and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributed to members 
who transferred from the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the 
Treasurer. All other GSS obligations are funded by concurrent 
contributions made by the Department to the GESB.

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension 
Scheme and GSS, and is recouped from the Treasurer for the 
employer’s share.

Refer to note 2(r) ‘Superannuation Expense’.

Provisions - other

Employment On-Costs

Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation 
insurance, are not employee benefits and are recognised 
separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment 
to which they relate has occurred. Employment on-costs are 
included as part of ‘Other expenses’ and are not included as part 
of the Department’s ‘Employee benefits expense’. The related 
liability is included in ‘Employment on-costs provision’.
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(r) Superannuation expense
Superannuation expense is recognised in the profit or loss in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income for defined contribution plans, 
including the concurrent payment of employer contributions to the GSS 
scheme, as and when the contributions fall due.

(s) Assets and services received free of charge or for 
nominal cost

Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost, that the 
Department would otherwise purchase if not donated, are recognised 
as income at the fair value of the assets or services where they can 
be reliably measured. A corresponding expense is recognised for 
services received. Receipts of assets are recognised in the Statement 
of Financial Position.

Assets or services received from other State Government agencies 
are separately disclosed under Income from State Government in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(t) Comparative figures
Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be 
comparable with the figures presented in the current financial year.

Note 3. Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies
The preparation of financial statements requires management to 
make judgements about the application of accounting policies that 
have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements. The Department evaluates these judgements regularly.

Operating lease commitment
The Department has entered into a commercial lease for office 
accommodation and it has determined that the lessor retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. 
Accordingly, the lease has been classified as an operating lease.

Note 4. Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on 
historical experience and various other factors that have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets 
and liabilities within the next financial year.

Long Service Leave
Several estimations and assumptions used in calculating the 
Department’s long service leave provision include expected future 
salary rates, discount rates, employee retention rates and expected 
future payments. Changes in these estimations and assumptions may 
impact on the carrying amount of the long service leave provision.
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Note 5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates
Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard

The Department has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2013 
that impacted on the Department:

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement
This Standard defines fair value, sets out a framework for measuring fair value and requires disclosures about fair value 
measurements. The Department has liaised with the Western Australia Land Information Authority (Valuation Services) to 
ensure that sufficient information will be provided to meet the disclosure requirements of this Standard. There is no financial 
impact.

AASB 119 Employee Benefits
This Standard supersedes AASB 119 (October 2010), making changes to the recognition presentation and disclosure 
requirements.

The Department assessed employee leave patterns to determine whether annual leave is a short-term or other long-term 
employee benefit. The resultant discounting of annual leave liabilities that were previously measured at the undiscounted 
amounts is not material.

AASB 1048 Interpretation of Standards
This Standard supersedes AASB 1048 (June 2012), enabling references to the Interpretations in all other Standards to be 
updated by reissuing the service Standard. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2011-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 13 [AASB 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 9, 2009-11, 2010-
7, 101, 102, 108, 110, 116, 117, 118, 119, 120, 121, 128, 131, 132, 133, 134, 136, 138, 139, 140, 141, 1004, 1023 & 
1038 and Int 2, 4, 12, 13, 14, 17, 19, 131 & 132]
This Standard replaces the existing definition and fair value guidance in other Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations as the result of issuing AASB 13 in September 2011. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2011-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 119 (September 2011) [AASB 1, 8, 101, 124, 
134, 1049 & 2011-8 and Int 14]
This Standard makes amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing 
AASB 119 in September 2011. The resultant discounting of annual leave liabilities that were previously measured at the 
undiscounted amounts is not material.
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AASB 2012-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities [AASB 7 & 132]
This Standard amends the required disclosures in AASB 7 to include information that will enable users of an entity’s financial 
statements to evaluate the effect or potential effect of netting arrangements, including rights of set-off associated with the 
entity’s recognised financial assets and recognised financial liabilities, on the entity’s financial position. There is no financial 
impact.

AASB 2012-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Annual Improvements 2009 11 Cycle [AASB 1, 
101, 116, 132 & 134 and Int 2]
This Standard makes amendments to the Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a consequence of the annual 
improvements process. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2012-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Mandatory Effective Date of AASB 9 and Transition 
Disclosures [AASB 9, 2009-11, 2010-7, 2011-7 & 2011-8]
This Standard amends the mandatory effective date of AASB 9 Financial Instruments to 1 January 2015 (instead of 1 January 
2013). Further amendments are also made to numerous consequential amendments arising from AASB 9 that will now apply 
from 1 January 2015. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2012-9 Amendment to AASB 1048 arising from the Withdrawal of Australian Int 1039
The withdrawal of Int 1039 Substantive Enactment of Major Tax Bills in Australia has no financial impact for the Department 
during the reporting period and at balance date. Measurement of tax assets and liabilities continues to be measured in 
accordance with enacted or substantively enacted tax law pursuant to AASB 112.46-47.

AASB 2012-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Transition Guidance and Other Amendments [AASB 1, 5, 7, 8, 
10, 11, 12, 13, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 119, 127, 128, 132, 133, 134, 137, 1023, 1038, 1039, 1049 & 2011-7 and Int 
12]
The Standard introduces a number of editorial alterations and amends the mandatory application date of Standards for not for 
profit entities accounting for interests in other entities. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Conceptual Framework, Materiality and Financial 
Instruments.
Part A of this omnibus Standard makes amendments to other Standards arising from revisions to the Australian Accounting 
Conceptual Framework for periods ending on or after 20 December 2013. Other Parts of this Standard become operative in 
later periods. There is no financial impact for Part A of the Standard.



Voluntary changes in accounting policy
The Department did not make any voluntary changes to its Accounting Policy in 2013/14

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative

Operative for reporting 
periods beginning  
on/after

Int 21 Levies 1 Jan 2014
This Interpretation clarifies the circumstances under which a liability to pay a government levy imposed should be 
recognised. There is no financial impact for the Department at reporting date.

AASB 9 Financial Instruments 1 Jan 2017
This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, introducing a number 
of changes to accounting treatments.

The mandatory application date of this Standard to 1 January 2017. The Department has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements 1 Jan 2014
This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes requirements under AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements and Int 112 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities, introducing a number of changes to 
accounting treatments.

Mandatory application was deferred by one year for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012 10 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards – Transition Guidance and Other Amendments. The adoption of the new Standard 
has no financial impact for the Department as it doesn’t impact accounting for related bodies and the Department 
has no interests in other entities.

AASB 11 Joint Arrangements 1 Jan 2014
This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures, introducesing new 
principles for determining the type of joint arrangement that exists, which are more aligned to the actual rights 
and obligations of the parties to the arrangement.

Mandatory application of the Standard was deferred by one year for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012 10. There 
is no financial impact for the Department as the new standard will continue to require proportional consolidation of 
the Department’s rights to assets and liabilities for the unincorporated joint operation.

100 
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Operative for reporting 
periods beginning  
on/after

AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 1 Jan 2014
This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes disclosure requirements under AASB 127 Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements, AASB 128 Investments in Associates and AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures. 
Mandatory application was deferred by one year for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012 10. There is no financial 
impact.

AASB 1031 Materiality 1 Jan 2014
This Standard supersedes AASB 1031 (February 2010), removing Australian guidance on materiality not available 
in IFRSs and refers to guidance on materiality in other Australian pronouncements. There is no financial impact.

AASB 1055 Budgetary Reporting 1 Jul 2014
This Standard requires specific budgetary disclosures in the financial statements of not-for-profit entities within 
the General Government Sector. The Department will be required to disclose additional budgetary information and 
explanations of major variances between actual and budgeted amounts, though there is no financial impact.

AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 
118, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 10 & 12]

1 Jan 2015

[modified by AASB 2010-7]

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 
102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 
127]

1 Jan 2015

This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations 
as a result of issuing AASB 9 in December 2010. The Department has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact of the Standard.
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Operative for reporting 
periods beginning  
on/after

AASB 2011-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Consolidation and Joint Arrangements 
Standards [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 9, 2009-11, 101, 107, 112, 118, 121, 124, 132, 133, 136, 138, 139, 1023 & 
1038 and Int 5, 9, 16 & 17]

1 Jan 2014

This Standard gives effect to consequential changes arising from the issuance of AASB 10, AASB 11, AASB 127 
Separate Financial Statements and AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. The Department has 
undertaken an analysis of the suite of Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards and determined that there is 
no financial impact arising from adoption of the various Standards.

AASB 2012-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities [AASB 132] 1 Jan 2014
This Standard adds application guidance to AASB 132 to address inconsistencies identified in applying some of 
the offsetting criteria, including clarifying the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off” and 
that some gross settlement systems may be considered equivalent to net settlement.

The Department does not routinely hold financial assets and financial liabilities that it intends to settle on a net 
basis, therefore there is no financial impact.

AASB 2013-3 Amendments to AASB 136 – Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets. 1 Jan 2014
This Standard introduces editorial and disclosure changes. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Conceptual Framework, Materiality and Financial Instruments. 1 Jan 2014
This omnibus Standard makes amendments to other Standards arising from the deletion of references to AASB 
1031 in other Standards for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014 (Part B), and, defers the application 
of AASB 9 to 1 January 2017 (Part C). The Department has not yet determined the application or the potential 
impact of AASB 9, otherwise there is no financial impact for Part B.

AASB 2014-1 AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 1 Jul 2014
The Department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.
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Note 6. Machinery of Government Change
Effective from 1 July 2013, the Culture and the Arts portfolio 
arrangements were adjusted to return employing authority to the 
relevant statutory bodies (by delegation from the Director General), 
along with budget appropriation for salaries.

The statutory authorities are:

 ▪ Art Gallery of Western Australia

 ▪ Western Australian Museum

 ▪ Perth Theatre Trust

 ▪ State Library of Western Australia

This has the following impact:

a) Employee benefits which were previously appropriated to the 
Department of Culture and the Arts are now being appropriated 
direct to the statutory authorities. This has resulted in a 
reduction in both employee benefits expenses and service 
appropriation.

b) The leave liabilities as well as leave holding account balances 
with Treasury WA relating to the statutory authorities were 
transferred to each authority from the Department respectively, 
made up as follows:

2014
$000

2013
$000

Accrued salaries 27th pay holding account with Treasury WA. (1,156) 0
Leave liabilities holding account with Treasury WA. (1,517) 0
Annual leave and long service leave liabilities provisions. 9,356 0

6,683 0

Note 7. Employee benefits expense

2014
$000

2013
$000

Wages and salaries (a) 10,271 38,087
Leave 2,407 6,031
Superannuation - defined contribution plans (b) 1,402 4,682
Other related expenses 259 483

14,339 49,283

(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax 
component, leave entitlements including superannuation contribution component. 

(b) Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State, GESBS and other eligible funds.

Employment on-costs expenses, such as workers’ compensation insurance, are included at 
note 12 ‘Other expenses’.

Employment on costs liability is included at note 28 ‘Provisions’.

Please also refer to note 6.



104 

Note 8. Supplies and services

2014
$000

2013
$000

Communication Services 217 157
Freight & Mail Services 35 55
Computing & IT related equipments 376 319
Labour Hire/Temporary Personnel 468 403
Professional & Administrative Services 2,647 6,055
Consulting Services 295 162
Consumables 146 145
Repairs & Maintenance 66 78
Travel 186 210
Insurance & Licences 460 488
Operating Lease, Rental & Hire Costs 533 476
Other 280 513

5,709 9,061

Note 9. Depreciation and amortisation expense

2014
$000

2013
$000

Depreciation
Buildings 682 835
Plant, Equipment & Vehicles 225 101
Total depreciation 907 935

Amortisation
Intangible Assets 315 238
Total amortisation 315 238
Total depreciation and amortisation 1,222 1,173



105 

Note 10. Accommodation expenses

2014
$000

2013
$000

Property 1,031 918
Accom Repairs & Maintenance 224 354
Utilities 145 113
Lease Rental - Buildings 1,364 1,327
Other 25 10

2,789 2,722

Note 11. Grants and subsidies 

2014
$000

2013
$000

Major Performing Arts Companies 9,110 9,557
Arts Refurbishment Projects 375 1,492
Major Arts Agencies 17,438 11,853
ScreenWest 2,000 3,250
Bell Tower Foundation 245 440
Minor Works 2,672 644
Other 244

32,084 27,236

Note 12. Other expenses 

2014
$000

2013
$000

Employment on-costs (a) 0 88
Audit fees 80 126
Refund of Revenue from Prior Years (b) 1,815 1,000
Other (c) 8 150

1,903 1,364

(a) Includes workers’ compensation insurance and other employment on-costs. The on-costs 
liability associated with the recognition of annual and long service leave liability is included 
at note 28 ‘Provisions’. Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision for 
leave are employee benefits and are not included in employment on-costs.

(b) During the year 2014, the Department (1) refund of $1,814,662 funding to Treasury WA 
for of Francis Street Decommissioning. During the year 2013, the Department refunded 
Section 21(3) transfer of $1,000,000 cash in relation to Cultural Events Package to 
Treasury WA.

(c) Includes bad debts written off nil (2013: $25,071) and audit fee. Refer also to note 39 
Remuneration of auditor.
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Note 13. User charges and fees

2014
$000

2013
$000

User Charges & Fees 213 63
Fees 80 8

293 71

Note 14. Trading profit

2014
$000

2013
$000

Sales 2
Trading Profit 2

Note 15. Commonwealth grants and contributions

2014
$000

2013
$000

Commonwealth Grants 389 360
389 360

Breakdown of Commonweath Grants
1. Indigenous Visual Arts Program 92 0
2. Partnership initiatives Performing Lines Project 50 0
3. Indian Ocean Territories (Christmas and Cocos (Keeling) Islands 50 55
4. Australian Council Artist in Residence Initiative 197 197
5. Indigenous Policy Review 0 108

389 360
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Note 16. Interest Revenue

2014
$000

2013
$000

Interest revenue 1
1

Note 17. Other revenue
2014
$000

2013
$000

Insurance Claims Recoveries 8 50
Rentals 196 223
Refunds 3 38
Recoups 404 517
Others (a) 98 177

709 1,005

(a) ‘Others’ comprise mainly of recoups and recoveries.
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Note 18. Income from State Government
2014
$000

2013
$000

Appropriation received during the period (a):
Service Appropriations - General 38,319 71,561
Service Appropriations - Amt Auth Stat 15,061 15,932

53,380 87,493

Royalties for Regions Fund 0 175
0 175

State Grants & Subsidies 250 250
250 250

Assets transferred from/(to) other State government agencies during the period
Assets assumed / (transferred) (c) (52) 2
Leave Holding Account assumed / (transferred) (d) (1,517) 0
27th Pay Holding Account assumed / (transferred) (d) (1,156) 0
Leave liabilities (assumed) / transferred (d) 9,356 0

6,631 2

Services received free of charge from other State government agencies during the period (e)

Services received free of charge 659 470
659 470

60,920 88,390
(a) Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. Appropriation revenue comprises a cash component and a receivable (asset). The receivable (holding account) comprises the budgeted 

depreciation expense for the year and any agreed increase in leave liabilities during the year. Please also refer to note 6.

(b) Grants and subsidies from State Government comprise Major Touring Project for WA Opera.

(c) Discretionary transfers of assets (including grants) and liabilities between State Government agencies are reported under income from State Government. Transfers of assets and liabilities in relation to a restructure 
of administrative arrangements are recognised as distribution to owners by the transferor and contribution by owners by the transferee under AASB 1004 in respect of net assets transferred. Other non-discretionary  
non-reciprocal transfers of assets and liabilities designated as contributions by owners under TI 955 are also recognised directly to equity. During 2014, the Department transferred $52,124 assets to Perth Theatre Trust.

(d) Leave holding accounts, 27th pay holding accounts and leave liabilities assumed / (transferred) is the result of Machinery of Government Cchange. See also note 6.

(e) During 2014, the Department of Finance provided services free of charge to the Department of Culture and the Arts to the total value of $587,904 (2013: $458,665) - made up of components (i) Integrated Procurement 
Services $118,515 (2013: $114,892); (ii) Government Accommodation - Leasing $54,278 (2013: $39,335); and (iii) Government Accommodation - Fit Out Depreciation $415,111 (2013 $304,438).  
In addition, State Solicitor’s Office provided services free of charge to the Department of Culture and the Arts to the total value of $70,712 (2013: $11,776).

See also note 6 Machinery of Government Change
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Note 19. Restricted cash and cash equivalents
2014
$000

2013
$000

Current
Restricted Cash (a) 438 515

438 515

Non-current
Restricted Cash (a) 0 0
Accrued salaries - provision for 27th pay (b) 631 1,575

631 1,575

(a) The Department of Culture and the Arts and the Commonwealth Government have a Service Delivery Arrangement for the provision of services to the Indian Ocean Territories. The Commonwealth 
Government recoups the Department the costs associated with these services (refer to note xx ‘Service Delivery Arrangement) In addition, there is also an agreement with Department of Regional 
Development for the Royalties for Regions Funds relating to Performing Arts Regional Tour Boost project.

(b) Funds held in the suspense account used only for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay in a financial year that occurs every 11 years. Please also refer to note 6.

Note 20. Receivables
2014
$000

2013
$000

Current  
Receivables 1,050 5,743
GST receivable 182 263

1,232 6,006

Loans and advances:
Other debtors 0 35

0 35
Total current 1,232 6,041

Non-current  
Loans and advances:
Other debtors 150 133
Total non-current 150 133
Total receivables 1,382 6,174

The Department does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements as security for receivables.
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Note 21. Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)

2014
$000

2013
$000

Current 200 0
Non-current 3,655 4,614

3,855 4,614
Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement or payment of leave liabilities.

Please also refer to note 6.

Note 22. Other assets

2014
$000

2013
$000

Current
Prepayments 355 174
Accrued Income 16 38
Total current 371 212
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Note 23. Property, plant and equipment
2014
$000

2013
$000

Land
At fair value (a) 22,000 21,220

22,000 21,220
Buildings
At fair value (a) 29,947 30,325

29,947 30,325
Leasehold improvements
At fair value (a) 259 259
Accumulated depreciation (71) (64)

188 195
Buildings under construction
Construction costs 4,419 342

4,419 342
Plant, equipment and vehicles
At cost 65 65
Accumulated depreciation (54) (53)

11 12
Office equipment
At cost 1,272 730
Office equipment - Clearing 0 24
Accumulated depreciation (749) (537)

523 217
Collections
At cost 1,477 1,477
Accumulated depreciation (171) (164)

1,306 1,313
Works of art
At fair value 173 173

173 173
Exhibits
Exhibits - WIP 600 0

600 0
59,167 53,797

(a) Land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2013 by the Western Australian Land 
Information Authority (Valuation Services). The valuations were performed during 
the year ended 30 June 2014 and recognised at 30 June 2014. In undertaking 
the revaluation, fair value was determined by reference to market values for land: 
$22,000,000 (2013:$21,220,000) and buildings:$29,947,109 (2013: $30,325,000). 
For the remaining balance, fair value of land and buildings was determined on the 
basis of depreciated replacement cost and fair value of land was determined on 
the basis of.comparison with market evidence for land with low level activity (high 
restricted use land). See note 2(f) ‘Property, plant and equipment’. 

Information on fair value measurements is provided in note 24.
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Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant, equipment at the beginning and end of the reporting period are set out in the table below.

Land 
 

$000

Buildings 
 

$000

Leasehold 
improvements 

$000

Buildings under 
construction 

$000

Plant, equipment 
and vehicles 

$000

Office 
Equipment 

$000

Collections 
 

$000

Works  
of art 
$000

Exhibits 
 

$000

Total 
 

$000

2014

Carrying amount at start of period 21,220 30,325 195 342 12 217 1,313 173 0 53,797

Additions 575 575

Work in progress 4,077 600 4,677

Disposals 0

Revaluations 780 297 1,077

Transfers (a) (52) (52)

Depreciation and amortisation (675) (7) (1) (217) (7) (907)
Carrying amount at end of year 22,000 29,947 188 4,419 11 523 1,306 173 600 59,167

2013
Carrying amount at start of period 20,830 31,472 201 17 217 1,320 173 54,229

Additions 86 86

Work in progress 342 342

Disposals 0

Revaluations 390 (319) 71

Transfers (a) 3 3

Depreciation and amortisation (828) (6) (5) (89) (7) (935)

Carrying amount at end of year 21,220 30,325 195 342 12 218 1,313 173 0 53,797

(a) The Department of Lands is the only agency with the power to sell Crown land. The land is transferred to the Department of Lands for sale and the Authority accounts for the transfer as a distribution to owner.

(b) Recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Where an asset measured at cost is written-down to recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. Where a previously 
revalued asset is written-down to recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation decrement in other comprehensive income.

Information on fair value measurements is provided in note 24.
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Note 24. Fair Value Measurements
Assets Measured at fair value:

Level 1 
 

$000

Level 2 
 

$000

Level 3 
 

 $000

Fair value  
At end of period 

$000

2014
Land (Note 23) 22,000 22,000
Buildings (Note 23) 18,939 11,008 29,947

0 40,939 11,008 51,947

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 or 3 during the period.

Valuation techniques to derive Level 2 fair values

Level 2 fair values of Non-current assets held for sale, Land and Buildings (Office Accommodation) are derived using the market approach. Market 
evidence of sales prices of comparable land and buildings (office accommodation) in close proximity is used to determine price per square metre.

Non-current assets held for sale have been written down to fair value less costs to sell. Fair value has been determined by reference to market 
evidence of sales prices of comparable assets.

Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

Land 
$000

Buildings 
$000

Infrastructure 
$000

2014
Fair Value at start of period 11,046
Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in Other Comprehensive Income 208
Transfers (from/(to) Level 2)
Disposals
Depreciation Expense (246)
Fair Value at end of period 0 11,008 0

Change in unrealised gains or losses for the period included in profit or loss for assets held 
at the end of the reporting period 11,008
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Valuation processes

There were no changes in valuation techniques during the period

Transfers in and out of a fair value level are recognised on the date 
of the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer. 
Transfers are generally limited to assets newly classified as non-
current assets held for sale as Treasurer’s instructions require 
valuations of land, buildings and infrastructure to be categorised within 
Level 3 where the valuations will utilise significant Level 3 inputs on a 
recurring basis.

Fair value for existing use specialised buildings and infrastructure 
assets is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the 
remaining future economic benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the 
depreciated replacement cost. Depreciated replacement cost is the 
current replacement cost of an asset less accumulated depreciation 
calculated on the basis of such cost to reflect the already consumed 
or expired economic benefit, or obsolescence, and optimisation 
(where applicable) of the asset. Current replacement cost is generally 
determined by reference to the market observable replacement cost 
of a substitute asset of comparable utility and the gross project size 
specifications.

Fair value for restricted use land is based on market value, by either 
using market evidence of sales of comparable land that is unrestricted 
less restoration costs to return the site to a vacant and marketable 
condition (low restricted use land), or, comparison with market 
evidence for land with low level utility (high restricted use land).

Significant Level 3 inputs used by the Department are derived and 
evaluated as follows:

Historical cost per square metre floor area (m2)

The costs of constructing specialised buildings with similar 
utility are extracted from financial records of the Model Statutory 
Authority, then indexed by movements in CPI.

Consumed economic benefit/obsolescence of asset

These are estimated by the Western Australian Land Information 
Authority (Valuation Services).

Selection of land with restricted utility

Fair value for restricted use land is determined by comparison 
with market evidence for land with low level utility. Relevant 
comparators of land with low level utility are selected by the 
Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation 
Services).

Historical cost per cubic metre (m3)

The costs of construction of infrastructure are extracted from 
financial records of the Model Statutory Authority and indexed by 
movements in construction costs by quantity surveyors.
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Information about significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) in fair value measurements

Description and fair 
value as at 30 June 2014 

$000

Valuation technique(s) Unobservable inputs Range of unobservable 
inputs

Relationship of 
unobservable inputs to 

fair value

BELL TOWER Building

$11,008

Depreciated 
replacement cost

Historical cost per square 
metre floor area (m2)

$9,944 per m2
Historical cost per m2 
increases fair value.

($9,944 per m2)

Reconciliations of the opening and closing balances are provided in Notes 23 and 24.

Basis of Valuation

In the absence of market-based evidence, due to the specialised nature of some non financial assets, these assets are valued at Level 3 of the fair 
value hierarchy on an existing use basis. The existing use basis recognises that restrictions or limitations have been placed on their use and disposal 
when they are not determined to be surplus to requirements. These restrictions are imposed by virtue of the assets being held to deliver a specific 
community service and the Department’s enabling legislation.
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Note 25. Intangible assets
2014
$000

2013
$000

Licences
At cost 248 35
Accumulated amortisation (48) (21)

200 14
Computer software
At cost 1,108 820
Computer software - WIP 513 0
Accumulated amortisation (690) (442)

931 378
Other intangibles
At cost 156 156

Other intangibles - WIP 279 0

Accumulated amortisation (98) (58)
337 98

1,468 490
Reconciliations:

Computer software
Carrying amount at start of period 378 309
Additions 801 259
Amortisation expense (248) (190)

Carrying amount at end of period 931 378
Licences
Carrying amount at start of period 14 23
Additions 213 0
Amortisation expense (27) (9)

Carrying amount at end of period 200 14
Other intangibles
Carrying amount at start of period 98 137
Additions 279 0
Amortisation expense (40) (39)

Carrying amount at end of period 337 98
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Note 26. Impairment of assets
There were no indications of impairment to property, plant and equipment, infrastructure or intangible assets at 30 June 2014.

The Department held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period. At the end of the reporting period there 
were no intangible assets not yet available for use.

All surplus assets at 30 June 2014 have either been classified as assets held for sale or written-off.

Note 27. Payables

2014
$000

2013
$000

Current
Trade payables 234 1,234
Grants payable 18,959 19,410
Accrued expenses 142 137
Accrued salaries 493 484
Accrued superannuation 47 63
Other 192 550

20,067 21,878
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Note 28. Provisions
2014
$000

2013
$000

Current
Employee benefits provision

Annual leave (a) 713 3,468
Long service leave (b) 1,591 3,521
Other provisions (d) 57 0

2,361 6,989
Other provisions

Employment on-costs (c) 430 1,282
430 1,282

2,791 8,271
Non current
Employee benefits provision

Annual leave (a) 257 0
Long service leave (b) 736 4,102

993 4,102
Other provisions

Employment on-costs (c) 84 394

84 394
1,077 4,496

(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to 
defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. 

Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

2014
$000

2013
$000

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 713 2,628
More than 12 months after the reporting period 257 840

970 3,468

(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional 
right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. 
Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

2014
$000

2013
$000

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 535 1,784
More than 12 months after the reporting period 1,792 5,839

2,327 7,623
(c) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of 

employment on-costs including workers’ compensation insurance. The provision is the 
present value of expected future payments. The associated expense is disclosed in note 12 
‘Other expenses’.

(d) Provision for purchased leave relates to Public Service employees who have entered into 
an agreement to self-fund up to an additional 10 weeks leave per calendar year. The 
provision recognises the value of salary set aside for employees and is measured at gthe 
undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

(e) Please also refer to note 6.
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Movements in other provisions
Movements in each class of provisions during the financial year, other than employee benefits, are set out below:

2014
$000

2013
$000

Employment on-cost provision
Carrying amount at start of the period 1,675 1,791
Additional/(reversal of) provisions required (1,161) (116)
Carrying amount at end of period 514 1,675

Note 29. Other liabilities

2014
$000

2013
$000

Current
Grant received in advance 0 250
Unclaimed monies 1 1
Others 0 82

1 333

Note 30. Equity
The Western Australian Government holds the equity interest in the Department on behalf of the community. Equity represents the residual interest in 
the net assets of the Department. The asset revaluation surplus represents that portion of equity resulting from the revaluation of non-current assets.

Contributed equity
2014
$000

2013
$000

Balance at start of period 11,530 9,491

Contributions by owners
Capital appropriation 8,226 2,039
Total contributions by owners 8,226 2,039
Distribution to owners

Balance at end of period 19,756 11,530
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Reserves
2014
$000

2013
$000

Asset revaluation surplus
Balance at start of the period 41,953 41,881
Net revaluation increments/(decrements)

Land 780 390
Buildings 297 (318)

Balance at end of period 43,030 41,953

Accumulated surplus/(deficit)

2014
$000

2013
$000

Balance at start of the period (5,177) (4,166)
Result for the period 4,266 (1,011)
Income and expense recognised directly in equity
Balance at end of period (911) (5,177)

Total equity at end of period 61,875 48,306

Please also refer to note 6.
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Note 31. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows
Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the Statement of Financial Position 
as follows:

2014
$000

2013
$000

Cash and cash equivalents 18,499 15,907
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (note 19 Restricted cash and cash equivalents) 1,069 2,090

19,568 17,997

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating activities

2014
$000

2013
$000

Net cost of services (56,654) (89,401)
Non-cash items

Depreciation and amortisation expense  
(note 9 'Depreciation and amortisation expense')

1,222 1,173

Services received free of charge  
(note 18 ‘Income from State Government’)

659 470

(Increase)/decrease in assets:
Current receivables (a) 4,728 (1,105)
Other current assets (159) 26
Non-current receivables (18) 36

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:
Current payables (a) (1,811) (10,710)
Current provisions 528 (2,234)
Other current liabilities (82) 78
Non-current provisions (71) 2,137
Net GST receipts/(payments) (b) 780
Change in GST in receivables/payables (c) 82

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities (51,576) (98,749)

(a) Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/
payables in respect of GST and the receivables/payables 
in respect of the sale/purchase of non-current assets are 
not included in these items as they do not form part of the 
reconciling items.

(b) This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transactions.

(c) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables.

At the end of the reporting period, the Department has 
fully drawn down on all financial facilities, details of 
which are diclosed in the financial statements.
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Note 32. Services provided free of charge
During the period the following services were provided to other agencies free of charge for functions outside the normal operations of the Department:

2014
$000

2013
$000

Art Gallery of Western Australia 26 5,424
State Library of Western Australia 120 13,889
Western Australian Museum (a) (1,765) 2,783
Perth Theatre Trust 1 2,117
ScreenWest 1,314 16,918

(304) 41,131

(a) Salaries deficit 2012-13 $1,889,092.62 received from Western Australian Museum.
Please also refer to note 6.

Note 33. Commitments
Non cancellable operating lease commitments

2014
$000

2013
$000

Commitments for minimum lease payments 
are payable as follows:
Within 1 year 2,767 2,721
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 14,891 14,438
Later than 5 years 24,863 23,369

42,521 40,528

The Department has entered into a property lease which is a non-cancellable lease with a 
remaining term of 11 years, with rent payable monthly in advance. Contingent rent provisions 
within the lease agreement require that the minimum lease payments shall be increased by the 
lower of CPI or 4% per annum.

The commitments below are inclusive of GST.

Capital expenditure commitments
Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure 
additional to the amounts reported in the financial statements, are 
payable as follows:

Within 1 year 32,245 9,726
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 344,000 360,160
Later than 5 years 58,300 63,400

434,545 433,286

The capital expenditure commitments include amounts of $428.3 million reflecting the 
commitment of Treasury regarding the building of a New State Museum; and $6,244,696 for global 
maintenance.

Other expenditure commitments
Grant and other commitments contracted for at the end of the reporting 
period but not recognised as liabilities, are payable as follows:

Within 1 year 313
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 37,804 23,954

37,804 24,267
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Note 34. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
Contingent liabilities

The Department is not aware of any contingent liability existing as at 30 June 2014.

Contingent assets

The Department is not aware of any contingent asset existing as at 30 June 2014.

Note 35. Events occuring after the end of the reporting period
The Department is not aware of any event occurring after balance sheet date that would materially affect the financial statements.

Note 36. Explanatory Statement
Significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2014 and between the actual results for 2013 and 2014 are shown below. Significant 
variations are considered to be those greater than 10% or $5 million.

Total appropriations provided to deliver services

Significant variances between estimate and actual results for 2014

There was no significant variance in the total appropriations provided to deliver services.

Significant variances between actuals for 2014 and 2013

Significant decrease in the total appropriations and services provided to external agencies due to Machinery of Government Change. Please refer 
to note 6.
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Service Expenditure

2014
Estimate

$000

2014
Actual

$000

Variance
 

$000

Significant variances between estimate and actual results for 2014
Arts Industry Support 31,598 35,565 3,967
Recordkeeping and Archival Services 2,352 2,937 585
Services provided to external agencies 18,698 19,545 847

2014
$000

2013
$000

Variance
$000

Significant variances between actual results for 2014 and 2013
Arts Industry Support 35,565 32,235 3,330
Recordkeeping and Archival Services 2,937 2,966 (29)
Services provided to external agencies 19,545 55,638 (36,093)

Capital appropriation

2014
Estimate

$000

2014
Actual

$000

Variance
 

$000

Significant variances between estimate and actual results for 2014 9,526 8,226 (1,300)
The major variance is the New State Museum Project deferred funding $1,500,000 re-scheduled to later years; and an 
additional $200,000 in Kalgoorlie-Boulder storage facility for Western Australian Museum.

2014
$000

2013
$000

Variance
$000

Significant variances between actual results for 2014 and 2013 8,226 2,039 (6,187)
The business case for the New Museum for Western Australia was endorsed by government and a commitment to fund the 
project was made in the 2012-13 State Budget. The Project Definition Planning phase was completed in 2013-14 and the 
project has moved to delivery phase.  All directly attributable project costs are being capitalised.
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Note 37. Financial instruments
(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies

Financial instruments held by the Department are cash and cash 
equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, loans and receivables, 
payables, WATC/Bank borrowings, finance leases, and Treasurer’s advances. 
The Department has limited exposure to financial risks. The Department’s 
overall risk management program focuses on managing the risks identified 
below.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Department’s 
receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations resulting in 
financial loss to the Department.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting 
period in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the 
gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any allowance for 
impairment as shown in the table at note 37(c) ‘Financial instruments 
disclosures’ and note 20 ‘Receivables’.

Credit risk associated with the Department’s financial assets is 
minimal because the main receivable is the amounts receivable for 
services (holding account). For receivables other than government, the 
Department trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The 
Department has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and 
services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In 
addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with 
the result that the Department’s exposure to bad debts is minimal. At 
the end of the reporting period there were no significant concentrations 
of credit risk.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises when the Department is unable to meet its financial 
obligations as they fall due.

The Department is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the 
normal course of business.

The Department has appropriate procedures to manage cash 
flows including drawdown of appropriations by monitoring forecast 
cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its 
commitments.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign 
exchange rates and interest rates will affect the Department’s income 
or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The Department 
does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially exposed to 
other price risks.

(b) Categories of financial instruments
The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets 
and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are:

2014
$000

2013
$000

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 18,499 15,907
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 1,069 2,090
Loans and receivables(a) 5,055 10,525

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (20,067) (21,922)

(a) The amount of loans and receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).



126 

(c) Financial Instruments Disclosures

Credit risk
The following table discloses the Department’s maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis of financial assets. The Department’s 
maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown below. The table discloses 
the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired financial assets. The table is based on information provided to 
senior management of the Department.

The Department does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancement relating to the financial assets it holds.

Ageing analysis of financial assets

Past due but not impaired

Carrying 
Amount  

 
$000

Not past 
due and not 

impaired 
$000

Up to 1 
month 

 
$000

1-3 
months 

 
$000

3 
months 

to 1 year 
$000

1-5 
years 

 
$000

More 
than 

5 years 
$000

Impaired 
financial 

assets 
$000

2014
Cash and cash equivalents 18,499 18,499
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 1,069 1,069
Receivables (a) 1,078 74 264 45 440 254 1
Loans and advances 150 150
Amounts receivable for services 3,855 3,855

24,651 23,647 264 45 440 254 1 0

2013
Cash and cash equivalents 15,907 15,907
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 2,090 2,090
Receivables (a) 5,743 2,289 30 60 3,364
Loans and advances 168 168
Amounts receivable for services 4,614 4,614

28,522 25,068 0 30 60 3,364 0 0

(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure
The following table details the Department’s interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities. The maturity 
analysis section includes interest and principal cash flows. The interest rate exposure section analyses only the carrying amounts of each item.

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities

Weighted  
Average 

 Effective  
Interest Rate

%

Carrying 
Amount  

 
 

$000

Interest rate exposure Maturity dates
Fixed  

interest 
rate 

$000

 Variable 
interest 

rate 
$000

Non - 
interest 
bearing 

$000

Nominal 
amount 

 
$000

Up to 1 
month 

 
$000

1-3 
months 

 
$000

3 
months 

to 1 year 
$000

1-5 
years 

 
$000

More 
than 5 
years 
$000

2014
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 18,499 18,499 18,499 18,499
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 1,069 1,069 1,069 438 631
Receivables (a) 1,078 1,078 1,078 338 45 440 255
Loans and advances 150 150 150 150
Amounts receivable for services 3,855 3,855 3,855 200 3,655

24,651 0 0 24,651 24,651 19,276 45 640 4,691 0

Financial Liabilities
Payables 1,108 1,108 1,108 1,108
Grants and loans payable 18,959 18,959 18,959 18,959

20,067 0 0 20,067 20,067 20,067 0 0 0 0

2013
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 15,907 15,907 15,907 15,907
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 2,090 2,090 2,090 2,090
Receivables (a) 5,743 5,743 5,743 5,743
Loans and advances 168 168 168 35 133
Amounts receivable for services 4,614 4,614 4,614 201 570 2,518 1,325

28,522 0 0 28,522 28,522 23,741 201 605 2,651 1,325
Financial Liabilities
Payables 2,468 2,468 2,468 2,468
Grants and loans payable 19,410 19,410 19,410 19,410

21,878 0 0 21,878 21,878 0 2,468 19,410 0 0
(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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Note 38. Remuneration of senior officers
The number of senior officers, whose total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the financial year fall within 
the following bands are:

2014 2013
80,001 - 90,000 1
100,001 – 110,000 1
150,001 - 160,000 1 1
180,001 - 190,000 1 1
190,001 - 200,000 1
250,001 - 260,000 1
270,001 - 280,000 1

$000 $000
Base remuneration and superannuation 755 725
Annual leave and long service leave accruals 26 28
Other benefits 34 30
Total remuneration of senior officers 815 783

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Department in respect of senior officers.
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Note 39. Remuneration of auditor
Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current financial year is as follows:

2014 
$000

2013 
$000

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and key performance indicators 63 64

Note 40. Related bodies

The Department has no related bodies.

Note 41. Affiliated bodies

The Department provides grants to non-government affiliated bodies for administrative support. In accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction 951, the 
details of financial assistance provided to the non-government affiliated bodies are shown in the table below. A full list showing details of all grants 
provided to non-government bodies has been included in the grants lists attached to and forming part of the annual report.

2014
$000

2013
$000

Art On The Move 455 460
Propelarts 0 390
Stages 80 0
WA Playwrights' Consortium 0 77
Writing WA 163 173

698 1,100

Note 42. Special purpose accounts
Special Purpose Account - section 16(1)(b) of FMA 
Arts Lotteries Trust Account

2014
$000

2013
$000

Balance at the start of the year 0 0
Receipts 14,800 15,000
Payments (14,800) (15,000)
Balance at the end of the year 0 0
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Note 43. Supplementary financial information
(a) Write-offs
During the financial year nil (2013: $25,000) in bad debts was written off under the authority of:

2014 
$000

2013 
$000

The accountable authority 25
0 25

(b) Losses through theft, defaults and other causes
There were no losses through theft,defaults and other causes.

(c) Gifts of public property
There were no gifts of public property provided by the Department.

Note 44. Service Delivery Arrangement
The Department of Culture and the Arts and the Commonwealth Government have entered into a Service Delivery Arrangement for the provision 
of services to the Indian Ocean Territories (Christmas and Cocos [Keeling] Islands). In addition, there is also a Service Delivery Agreement with 
Commonwealth Government for the provision of services to the Arts In Residence; and State Government for the provision of services funded by 
Department of Regional Development The receipts and payments are as below:

2014
$000

2013
$000

Balance at the start of the year 515 294
Receipts 170 251
Payments (448) (30)
Balance at the end of the year 237 515
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